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No UNDERTAKINGS WERE FILED IN THIS PROCEEDING.


Monday, May 28, 2018
--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated. 

Good morning, everyone.  And I was so glad to find out it was a little cooler in here than some other rooms in the building, so hopefully it stays that way.
Procedural Matters:


We're here for day 6 of an oral hearing to hear applications by Enbridge Gas and Union Gas for leave to amalgamate and a rate-setting framework.  I understand that a hearing plan has been circulated, and I have a copy here with me, I think, yes, and it looks like we have panel 1 back up, and the purpose of today, I guess, at this point is the undertakings that were from panel 1 to start off.

Is there anything, Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  Yes, if I may, Madam Chair, address a couple of areas.  First I would make some comments about the panels that the applicants will present today.  As you see, panel 1 is back to respond to follow-up questions on answers to undertakings.  Panel 2 is also here.  As far as panel 3 is concerned, from what we could tell in relation to possible questions it appeared to us that it would be most efficient to simply have Mr. Kacicnik from panel 3 join panel 2 when they come up later today.  I'm not sure to what extent there are appropriate questions for panel 3, but to the extent that they are I think they can be dealt with by panel 2 and having Mr. Kacicnik join panel 2.  So that's what the applicants plan to do insofar as the panels are concerned.

MS. ANDERSON:  And panel 2 included Mr. Kitchen and Mr. Culbert, correct --


MR. CASS:  Mr. Kitchen --


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.

MR. CASS:  -- and Ms. Mikhaila from Union, who is in the rates area, and Mr. Kacicnik from Enbridge is in the rates area.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. CASS:  And then the second area I wanted to comment, on if I may, Madam Chair, briefly, is the scope of the evidence today.  The witnesses here are here expecting that the point of today is to answer follow-up questions on undertaking responses.  Yesterday we received from Mr. Shepherd a compendium of over 100 pages containing numerous items of evidence.  It also contains new calculations and presentations of numbers.  It contains something called "gives and gets summary" at page 21 of the document, as you'll see when we get to it.  I don't know what the purpose of that is, but at an appropriate time I would certainly have argument to address to this gives and gets summary.

In short, our expectation is that the day will be focused on responses to undertakings.  We'll have to see how it goes, but we do have a concern from the beginning about the scope and where this is going.

Just one final comment on the compendium.  I'm sure Mr. Shepherd will get an exhibit number for it when he comes to it.  There is an item in it at page 15 that was a subject-to-check item for Mr. Reinisch, and so at an appropriate time Mr. Reinisch would address that very briefly as well, the subject-to-check item.

Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Richler, any other preliminary matters you're aware of?

MR. RICHLER:  No, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  With the hearing plan, the expectation is we will finish up and close up before the end of today, and given the hours are here, so I guess the first step is Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have a compendium, and perhaps we can give an exhibit number.

MR. RICHLER:  Madam Chair, we can mark that as Exhibit K6.1.  It's SEC's cross-examine materials, Volume 2.  
EXHIBIT NO. K6.1:  SEC'S CROSS-EXAMINE MATERIALS, VOLUME 2.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And all of the materials in the compendium are materials that are on the record, with the exception of, I think, four pages, all of which were provided to the applicant Friday morning, and three of them, they've actually agreed on all the numbers on the page.

And I should comment that in addition to that they've agreed to a number of the other numbers that I'm going to get to in my cross-examination over the weekend.  They have been very cooperative in checking things to make sure we are on the same page so we don't play around with arithmetic, we just get to the substance, and I wanted to note that on the record.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, before Mr. Shepherd launches into his cross-examination, might Mr. Reinisch address the subject to check at page 15 of Exhibit K6.1?

MS. ANDERSON:  Sure.

MR. REINISCH:  Yes, thank you.  In my exchange with Mr. Brett a number of days ago, on line 16 and 17 I took a subject to check, and I had referenced that I believe that the number was 155 million dollars.  After checking, Mr. Brett was much closer.  The actual number after checking is 104 million dollars.

MS. ANDERSON:  Can you repeat for me -- I've got written down in my notes page 15.  Page 15 of...

MR. REINISCH:  Of K6.1, the SEC compendium, Volume 2.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, it's from the transcript on the first day, page 152.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION/UNION GAS - PANEL 1: MAADS & RATE MECHANISM POLICY, resumed
Dave Charleson,

Paul Reitdyk,

Mark Kitchen,

Kevin Culbert,

Warren Reinisch; Previously Affirmed

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want to start, witnesses, with some questions about what you mean by "price cap", because during the course of the proceeding there have been a number of requests for rate information.  Mr. Garner asked on day 2 for some rate information, which we got in J2.2.  And then we followed up on day 5 with a request for additional rate information, and that is in J5.1, and those are on pages 2 and page 4 of our material.

And so having seen those, I then had to go last week to my school boards and explain that this 2.4 percent per year that they were expecting for the next 10 years, that's not actually true, is it?  Not for schools, right?  That's not what you're proposing.

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, first of all, it's probably a question that should have Ms. Mikhaila and Mr. Kacicnik here for as well, since it is a rate question, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not a rate question, I'm sorry.  I'm asking about what you mean by "price cap".

MR. KITCHEN:  What do we mean by "price cap"?  Price cap, we inflate the prices or the revenue requirement by inflation.  After deducting certain Y factors we then add them in, re-divide back through by the billing determinants to come up with the unit rate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's sort of what I thought, except that's, of course, a revenue cap, right?  That's not a price cap.

MR. KITCHEN:  It's a price cap.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, a price cap escalates prices.  You're not escalating prices, right?  You're escalating --


MR. KITCHEN:  Prices are escalated, because what we do is we start with the revenue requirement that is based on the last approved.  That is then divided through by the same billing determinants, those are fixed, and the revenue requirement is escalated by inflation.  Then we add back in the Y factors, then we re-divide -- we divide back through by the billing determinants to come up with an escalated price.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's not what you did, though, is it?  So if you can go to page 7 of our materials.  Page 7 of our materials is what I had to explain to the school boards last week.

So a typical school is around 40,000 cubic metres a year.  And so we just did a calculation for Union, the two Union, north and south, and Enbridge, and you've confirmed these numbers are right.  So I want to know, how is it that a school in M1, for example, which is in the middle, would have a distribution increase of 96 percent over 10 years?  How is that 2.4 percent a year?

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Shepherd, when you -- I'll give you a couple of reasons.  One is you've picked a volume.  I'm not denying it's a volume that is related to schools, but you picked a volume that is the upper end of the M1 rate class.  The vast majority of customers within the M1 rate class are general -- small general-service customers, homes, largely, that have an average consumption of 2,200 cubic metres.

If you look at the average rate increase, which rate design generally has average increases, you will see that the increase is roughly that 2.4 percent.  But as you move closer to the boundaries or away from the boundaries those rate impacts diverge.

And I think the other thing that's important to note is that for Rate 6 the -- you've also picked a volume that is close to the lower end of the boundary.  So what happens is you're seeing the impacts of rate design, not the impacts of amalgamation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, let's just -- let me deal with that one bit for a second, Rate 6 at the lower end.  That's not true, is it, Mr. Culbert?  In fact, your average Rate 6 volume is lower than 40,000, isn't it?

MR. CULBERT:  I'm not sure, Mr. Shepherd.  You'd have to check with Mr. Kacicnik when he comes up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because Rate 6 starts at zero, right?

MR. CULBERT:  I'm not a volumes expert, so you'd have to check with Mr. Kacicnik.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So why do you think, Mr. Kitchen, that it's at the lower end of the --


MR. KITCHEN:  That was my understanding.  But you should check with Mr. Kacicnik.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We'll ask him later.  But what I'm trying to figure out is, we're used to -- in price cap we're use to all the rates escalating at the same amount.  All the various components of rates all escalate at the same amount.  That's what happens in electricity.  But that's not what you do, is it?

MR. KITCHEN:  What we do is we escalate the revenue requirement, back out the Y factors, and add them back in and divide through by the billing determinants.  What you're seeing here is the impact of volumetric rates increasing over the deferred rebasing period, and you're applying that to a very large customer.  So, yes, there are going to be impacts -- different impacts to different volumes within a class.  That happens to every rate class.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's because you're not escalating all the rates at the same amount, are you?

MR. KITCHEN:  We are escalating all the rates at the same amount.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm sorry, you're escalating the fixed charge at zero.

MR. KITCHEN:  Sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The fixed charge is being escalated at zero, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you're escalating the first block at 85 and the last block at 89, right?  That's not the same.

MR. KITCHEN:  That's the way the math is working out, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And by the way, then if we go to Rate 6 for Enbridge, you're escalating those at 32 and 29.  I'm not sure I understand.  How is that escalating them all at the same rate?

MR. KITCHEN:  The rates themselves, when we escalate the rates, they will be escalated the same rate.  The reason you're seeing the difference is the fact that we didn't escalate the monthly customer charge.  We could have escalated the monthly customer charge, but what we chose to do instead was to leave the monthly customer charge fixed at 21 dollars and then take the revenue associated with the monthly customer charge and distribute it across the blocks.  That's the way we've done it under our price cap.  It doesn't mean that we will do that going forward in '19, but that is consistent with how we've done it under the price cap --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so -- hang on a second.  So this is not what you're actually expecting to do?

MR. KITCHEN:  I didn't say that.  What I said is this is what we do currently under the union.  We haven't determined whether or not we we'll escalate the fixed charges under the price cap going forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's sort of up to you?  The Board doesn't have a say in that?

MR. KITCHEN:  The Board does have a say in it.  However, through the last two price caps that Union has had we have not escalated the monthly customer charge.  What we've done is escalated the blocks, and we have taken the escalated amount associated with fixed charges and distributed those across the blocks.  This is consistent with what we've done in the past.  It doesn't mean that we'll do that going forward, but whatever we do going forward will be subject to Board approval.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the rate-setting plan that you're asking for from the Board, it's not a price cap like the Board is used to where each of the rates is escalated by the same percentage, is it?

MR. KITCHEN:  Right now, Mr. Shepherd, we have not proposed how we're going to escalate the fixed charges.  For contract rates we do escalate the fixed charges using the price inflator, but we haven't for the general-service market, largely because, if I remember correctly, that was the subject of the settlement.  That's how we chose to do it.

But going forward, if we propose something else, it would be subject to Board approval.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I'm not sure I got an answer to my question.  My question is a very straightforward one.  In the Board's typical price cap each rate is escalated by the same percentage.  There's a formula, and each rate is escalated by that amount so that every customer knows that their total distribution bill is going to go up by exactly the same amount.

You're proposing something different, and I'm not sure I understand yet what you're proposing to this Board.  Is it what we see on page 7 or is it something different, or you're not proposing anything yet?

MR. KITCHEN:  We haven't proposed anything yet in terms of escalating the monthly fixed charges.  As I said, this is how Union has done its price cap over the last five years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So why is Rate 6 escalating at a lower amount than N1?  Fixed charge is not being escalated in either case.

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Shepherd, these questions are better suited towards panel -- the panel that has Mr. Kacicnik and Ms. Mikhaila on it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking a rate design question, Mr. Kitchen, I'm asking a price cap question.  How is your price cap supposed to work?  And you've explained how it's supposed to work, but you haven't got to the -- where the rubber hits the road yet, which is how is it actually applied to customers.


So when the Board approves a price cap normally it knows how it's going to be applied to customers, and I take it that what you're saying is you want the Board to approve a price cap where they don't know how it's going to be applied to customers; is that right?

MR. KITCHEN:  I don't believe that's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then explain.  What are you asking them to approve?

MR. KITCHEN:  We're asking them to approve a price cap escalator of GDPI PPI at a zero X factor, certain pass-through items, Z factor, et cetera, but how those will actually work out in the working papers we applied for in '19, that's where that will be decided.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You understand that the Board's jurisdiction is to set rates, not your revenue requirement, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  I understand that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you're not telling the Board how you want the Board to set rates, are you?  Because you're leaving out a key piece.

MR. KITCHEN:  I don't believe we are, Mr. Shepherd.  We have put forward a price-setting framework.  This is no different than the price-setting framework that Union put forward in '13 for rates for '14 through '18.  It's no different than the price cap mechanism that we had from 2008 through 2012.  We didn't apply then with working papers and all the backup to how the rates would actually be set.  Those came in subsequent proceedings.  What was approved was the mechanism, and that's what we're seeking approval of.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Sorry, I had understood that there was actually an agreement as to fixed charges in 2013, and --


MR. KITCHEN:  There was an agreement, right, but what I'm saying is we're not seeking approval of the detailed working papers that will go into the price cap.  We're seeking approval of the mechanism.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The other thing I notice in this is that your assumption is the cap and trade charges will not go up for the next 10 years.  Is that your forecast currently?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's our forecast.  That's our assumption in this calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- and the effect of that is to make your rate increases lower, right?  Your overall distribution increases -- delivery charges are lower because you assume that about a third of them are -- or a quarter of them are fixed, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  We assumed -- we made a simplifying assumption around the level of price cap.  We don't know what it's going to go to, so didn't try to forecast it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Current expectation is it will go up about 150 percent in the next 10 years; isn't that right?  From 20 to 50, roughly?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's approximately correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So here is why I ask.  If you go back to page 6, all these numbers that are compound annual increase from 2018 delivery charges, M1, 4.62 percent, Union North, O1, 4.67, et cetera, those are all understated because a big chunk of the rates are going to be also increasing.  That's -- those numbers include cap and trade, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Cap and trade is a pass-through, just like gas costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's in -- but it's in that line, isn't it, the delivery charge line.

MR. KITCHEN:  It's in that line.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that line had then -- is artificially reduced by the fact that the cap and trade component is treated as not increasing but --


MR. KITCHEN:  It isn't artificially reduced.  What we've done --


[Reporter appeals.]

MR. KITCHEN:  I wouldn't say it's artificially reduced.  What we've done is we've made a simplifying assumption to leave it fixed, that's all.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But in fact these numbers should be more like 6 percent for the first three, right?  Isn't that about right?  Am I in the ballpark, 6 or 7?

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, again, we have a panel coming with the rate witnesses on it.  To the extent that Mr. Shepherd has these detailed rate questions, they should be asked of that panel.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The rate specialists have been warned that I will ask that question.

I want to move on to -- I just wanted to ask one more thing about this.  You had a plan at one point -- and this is on page 8 of our material.  This is from the technical conference, day 1, page 67.  You had a plan to increase the percentage of your revenues that you collect through the fixed charge, right?  But you're not doing that right now.  You haven't decided what to do with it yet.

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you might, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  It's possible.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But meanwhile, what you're proposing to the Board is the opposite.  You want to reduce the percentage of your reserves that you get from the fixed charge, right?  That's what you're currently saying.

MR. KITCHEN:  What we've done in that undertaking was provide a response around our rate impact, and we made assumptions.  We haven't -- there is no -- there is no approval being sought relative to those rate increases.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your assumption in the undertakings was that your percentage of revenue from fixed charges will go down, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  What we've assumed is that they would be -- we would not adjust them over the deferred rebasing period, but that doesn't necessarily mean that we won't propose that in '19.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  It was a yes-no question.  Your percentage of revenues from fixed charges will go down under this assumption, correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  Under the assumption we made, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  In fact, what you're considering is the opposite, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Something that we're considering, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then the Board can't rely on these undertaking responses?

MR. KITCHEN:  I don't think I'm saying that.  We provided the response to the undertaking to provide the rate impact.  We made certain assumptions in order to do that, but we've also said that we may consider increasing the monthly customer charge.  But again, we're not asking for that in this proceeding.  We're not asking for the Board to approve any rate impact in this proceeding.  What we're asking the Board to approve is a mechanism.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the mechanism that you're proposing will then result in the schools having their bills double, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  If everything in this -- everything in this undertaking response were to happen, then their bills would increase, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So have you told the schools, by the way, that?  Because when I talked to them that's the first they've heard of it.  You haven't told anybody that, have you, not even the Board, that you're planning to double some customers --


MR. KITCHEN:  Some customers will have rate increases because of where they fall in the class.  But for the class average it will be what we have set at 2.4 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And when were you going to tell the Board that?  If I hadn't got it out of your numbers, when were you going to tell the Board that?

MR. KITCHEN:  The Board would see that as part of our rates application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  After the rate-setting plan had been approved.

MR. KITCHEN:  The mechanism itself is not driving the rate impacts.  What drives the rate impacts is the rate design that we currently have, and that has impacts on customers of different size within every class.  That's just a function of rate design.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to go then to -- if you look at page 9 of our materials -- to Undertaking J2.4.  So this was the undertaking that got everybody all hot and bothered in the first place.  And I want to just -- the history of this is that Staff, OEB Staff, did a table sort of like you see on page 10 that basically seemed to show that the utility was getting too good a deal, and you said in cross-examination, no, that's not the case, and you undertook to give a more -- a correct version of what they had proposed, right?

MR. REINISCH:  The initial chart did not include the achievement of allowed ROE in the crossover point, so we sought through this undertaking to show the full picture.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. Kitchen, it was you who did this chart, right?  It was your undertaking.  I assume you did the table?

MR. KITCHEN:  I took the undertaking, yes, and -- the chart was prepared by another person, but, yes, I oversaw the preparation of the chart.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Was it somebody on the panel who did the chart, or...

MR. REINISCH:  Well, the chart was prepared by members of the teams that report to -- through the various people on the chart and work closely with the people on the panel.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So it wasn't anybody who's any of the witnesses.  It was -- but you're taking responsibility for it, but it wasn't you that did it.

MR. REINISCH:  I'm very comfortable speaking to the numbers that underpin the chart, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you take a look at page 13 of our -- no, sorry, page 14 of our material, this -- the basic deal that you're proposing and that's described in J2.4 --


MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, sorry, can you -- is there a reference for the days for these transcripts?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I'm sorry.  This is on the first day, page --


MS. GIRVAN:  Because I don't think any of these are listed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I know, because I would have had to add another 30 pages to my --


MS. GIRVAN:  So maybe when you're speaking to it --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I will.  Thank you.

MS. GIRVAN:  -- thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So transcript page -- day 1, page 26.  Do you see that?  And what you describe there on lines 4 to 10 is the basic deal that you're proposing.  You're going to spend 150 million dollars.  There's going to be 680 million dollars of savings, and both of those are, you know, points on a continuum.  And of that 680 million dollars, 150 is going to go for the investment, 410 million dollars is going to go to the customers, and 120 million is going to go the company.  That's your basic deal, right?

MR. REINISCH:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason why you say the 410 goes to the customers is, you say you need that 410 in order to meet your allowed ROE, and indeed, we have got a quote here on page 16 of our material, also the first day, at page 153 of the transcript, where you say that, right?  Line 4 to 7.  It's Mr. Culbert, I think, that said it, actually.

MR. REINISCH:  So in order to generate our forecasted ROE we require 410 million dollars of savings to be able to get us back to our allowed forecasted ROE.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I wonder if you could turn to page 20 of our materials.  And this is also on the first day of the transcript at page 80, and this is you, Mr. Reinisch -- or -- Mr. Reinisch, sorry -- is, you say at line 11 to 13, basically you get the 410 not by some sort of bottom-up calculation but by comparing two models, your proposal and a stand-alone straw man which is made up of custom IR applications, right?

MR. REINISCH:  So on one hand we have modelled the custom IR scenario, so that would be if the two entities do not amalgamate and file separate custom IR applications, those dollars, the figures that go into determining the revenue requirement for that scenario, are made up of a cost breakdown of capital costs, operating costs, as well as all other costs required to operate the business.

That number, or the sum of those two numbers, is compared to the alternative, which is the proposal that we're putting forward with the Board and we're seeking approval of the MAADs amalgamation scenario.  That is based off of a price cap, so it takes the -- in the case of Union Gas, the 2013 rates, inflates them according to price cap, that they've inflated 'til 2018, and then starting in 2019 inflates them at the proposed and the forecasted inflation factor.  For -- Enbridge does the same thing, just jumping off of the 2018 revenue requirement.

And so that is the difference, the 410 million is the difference between those two numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this -- the answer to my question then is yes.

MR. REINISCH:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And so I understand from that that what that means is that that 410 depends on your estimate of the impacts of the Amalco proposal being correct and your stand-alone straw man being correct.  If either of those two is not correct, then the 410 is not correct either, right?

MR. REINISCH:  The numbers underpinning both are forecasted numbers.  They've been built up with reasonable assumptions made by an analysis made by the management teams at both Union Gas and Enbridge Gas Distribution.  And as we discussed in the technical conference, with all forecasts there is risks those forecasts will not materialize.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The 410 is only correct if the two scenarios are correctly forecast.  Otherwise it's incorrect; is that right?  It's a yes-no question.

MR. CASS:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair, I'm not so sure it is a yes-no question.  We're talking about forecasts here, and Mr. Shepherd is asking the witness to confirm whether they're correct.  Mr. Reinisch just explained that he can't speak of forecasts in terms of whether they're correct or not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The transcript will show that I didn't ask him to say that they were correct.  I asked him to agree that the 410 is only correct if the forecasts are correct.

MR. REINISCH:  The 410 is only correct to the extent that the forecasts are correct.  However, there is a range of possibilities both ways.  The 410 could be lower, the 410 could be higher.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Indeed.  But -- so I read what you're saying a different way.  I read what you're saying this way, and tell me whether this is correct.  In order to get to your allowed ROE for the next 10 years you need the following:  You need first of all no clawback of your 64 million dollars of over-earnings, which we'll get to in a second, so what would normally go to benefit customers on rebasing, you get to keep that 64 million for 10 years.  An increase of 4.8 percent in 2019 for various adjustments and for higher ROE and the like.  100 percent of the inflation factor, no productivity factor, no stretch factor, 1.1 billion dollars of extra money for ICM, and 410 million dollars.  If you don't get all of that you can't make your allowed ROE.  Is that what you're telling the Board?

MR. REINISCH:  That was a lot to try to digest there.  I'm not sure the initial clawback and the concept of a clawback -- I can't agree with that premise.  Again, the underpinning numbers that have gone into the derivation of the custom IR are based on the costs of both utilities, so those are our forecasted costs in 2019 on a stand-alone basis for both Union Gas and Enbridge Gas Distribution.

So with respect to any concept of a clawback, I can't agree with that premise.  Those are our best estimates, our best forecasts of what the costs to operate the business in 2019 will be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, you don't think that on rebasing if you're over-earning that over-earning goes back to the customers?

MR. REINISCH:  Again, upon rebasing, we would -- if we were going down the custom IR framework we would be putting forth a proposal of costs.  These are our costs.  We're going to be seeking recovery of those costs from the Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And for your costs to result in a rate increase, you have to first get back to zero, so you have to get back your over-earnings, and then whatever increase you want, right?  You have to have both in order to have a net rate increase, don't you?

MR. REINISCH:  So between 2018 and 2019 there are a number of factors that are driving increases in costs, things like OM&A cost increases, capital cost increases, depreciation increases, tax increases, all of these things are driving cost increases, along with increases in the allowed ROE that we forecasted.  In addition to that you've got other adjustments that we are proposing -- sorry, not 

-- other adjustments like the end of the deferred tax drawdown and other rate-smoothing mechanisms that are coming to an end.

So when you sum up all of those items, when you add on incremental capital requirements that are needed to safely operate the business and grow our customer base, that results in the cost increases that we have put forth as part of the custom IR proposal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, exactly.  Exactly.  And so the whole point of this cross is to unpack what you just said.  The whole point is to test whether that claim is credible.  Spoiler alert:  It isn't.  And so I want to walk through the various components of what you just said and see whether those statements are credible, because that's the basis of 2.4, right?  2..4 is only correct if that statement is correct, right?

MR. CULBERT:  As Mr. Reinisch has pointed out, the projections of costs at this point in time suggest that there's a 410 million dollar benefit to ratepayers from our price-cap scenario.  Depending on what the Board decides, if we have to come back with a custom IR application, those numbers could be different at that point in time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want you to turn to page 21, and I know my friend, Mr. Cass, will have something to say about that, but he will probably want to hear how I want to use this first before he has something to say, I suspect.

So many, many years ago -- this is like 35 years ago 

-- a very good businessman taught me how to negotiate commercial deals, and one of the things you do is you do what's called a gives and gets, in which you say in this deal what are we giving up and what are we getting and what stays the same relative to our alternative?  You always go against an alternative.

And so what I wanted to do here -- and basically the rest of my cross is filling in this chart -- is figure out what is Enbridge giving up or what is -- what are the companies -- sorry, Enbridge as they then were -- giving up and what are you getting and what is neutral in both scenarios?

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, my concern with this is, as I believe the Board has confirmed, the test it will be applying in this case is the no-harm test.  I don't think a gives-and-gets summary is relevant to the test the Board will apply at all.  Should Mr. Shepherd want to make argument about gives and gets in his argument at the conclusion of this case, the applicants will of course respond to that with their arguments, and I expect would be submitting it's not relevant or appropriate in this case.

I don't know where this goes in the context of the evidence given.  From my point of view this is a matter of argument.  If Mr. Shepherd has some strictly factual questions that have something to do with following up on undertaking responses that he is going to use in his gives-and-gets argument, I suppose that's fine.  But today we're here for factual questions and follow-up on undertaking responses, and to me this whole gives-and-gets analysis is not appropriate in this case, and I expect that's what the applicants will be arguing when we get to the argument phase of the case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, see, the point of doing this analysis is the no-harm test.  From -- you do a gives and gets, of course, from the point of view of the company, but it's the ratepayers that are paying for it.  So the converse is true for the ratepayers.

So what we as ratepayers and the Board on behalf of the ratepayers has to look at is, if we choose door number one, which the company has proposed, what do the ratepayers get for that, what do they give up for that, what stays the same, and are they better off, or are they worse off?  Because if they're worse off under the no-harm test you say no.  Or maybe you say yes to the amalgamation but no to the rate-setting.

But what you first have to know is, is this pitch that the ratepayers are 410 million dollars better off, is it true or not?  Our position is it's not, and if we walk through the numbers we will see that it's not, not by 100,000 dollars, by billions of dollars.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, if I could interject for a minute with your permission, because I think we should have this out once and for all and get on with this cross-examination, with all due respect.  Mr. Shepherd has worked very hard preparing and has shared with all of us his materials so that we've been able to watch that.

From IGUA's perspective, the two issues that we will finally hopefully get answers for here today at the tail end of the evidentiary portion of this proceeding is some concreteness in respect of the claimed 410- or 411-million-dollar ratepayer benefit and some clearer sense of where the crossover between the required investment and the earnings is going to occur.

And it's a huge record, but I don't think we have clarity on either of those critical points.  And from my perspective, that's what Mr. Shepherd is pursuing and should be allowed to pursue that in the way he is approaching it, and this gives-and-gets summary seems to be a very handy shorthand mechanism to get there.  And from our perspective, we are relying on this cross-examination to get there.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  We'll take five to consider.
--- Recess taken at 10:11 a.m.
--- On resuming at 10:20 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  We are back on the air.

The Panel has determined that the forecast savings are relevant to knowing -- are relevant to this case, and knowing the components of them, such as from Mr. Shepherd's chart, are helpful.  However, we also note that many of the elements of this chart have already been the subject of cross-examination and evidence, and we don't need any of that repeated if it's already on the record.  Sometimes it may just be a simple confirmation, yes-no.  This is part of the one side or the other.  We perhaps don't care for the term "gives and gets", but that it is relevant for us to know the components of the forecast savings.

So with that, we would like to proceed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I have included the two key pieces of information that I think are the basis for this discussion.  The first is FRPO.11, the famed FRPO.11.  And I don't know who to answer this question, but J2.4 is based on FRPO.11, right?  The underlying calculations that form the basis for J2.4 are from FRPO.11, right?

MR. REINISCH:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  I'm marking that now.

Then on page 32 of our materials we have KT3.3, and this came from the technical conference.  It was prepared by SEC.  And it basically summarized a bunch of the information in FRPO.11, and on page 33 of our materials you'll see from the third day of the technical conference on page 107 the company confirming that these numbers are correct, right?

MR. REINISCH:  Yes, that's correct, the numbers on the page are correct, though again, some of the calculations that were done and the context around what those calculations mean is not clear from the information contained on this sheet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, help me understand that.  These numbers are right.

MR. REINISCH:  No, the numbers are correct.  I'm not debating the accuracy of the numbers.  We reviewed them, and you've captured them correctly in this table, but again, there are some challenges around things like OM&A per customer, rate base per customer, again, the context of when you use percentages it can get a little bit confusing, so hopefully that will -- the problem --


MR. SHEPHERD:  We'll see whether those things come up.

MR. REINISCH:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We'll see whether those things come up.

So you've got the two options presented.  One is your Amalco plan, which is formula plus an ICM, and then you have the stand-alone, which is a ground-up simulation of custom IR to utilities for ten years, so four custom IRs, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And you've confirmed, haven't you -- and I have this cite at page 36, which is from the third day of the technical conference -- that you didn't do a detailed analysis to do the custom IRs, right?

MR. REINISCH:  So the custom IR forecasts are based off of our -- at the time would have been our 2016 actual results, our 2017 part-year results, and then our 2018 budgeted results, so what we would have in our budget.  And we then took those -- and those were developed through detailed analysis, as with any budget year.  We then took those and we made a series of assumptions to arrive at the starting point for our 2019 forecasted costs.

So to say that they're high-level assumptions, the assumptions on inflation for OM&A, those would be high-level assumptions.  However, our capital cost, which can make up a significant part of our expenses, those were underpinned by our detailed asset management plans.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course, the capital plan is the same in both cases, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the differences between the two plans are not driven by the capital plan, are they?

MR. REINISCH:  Again, the underlying costs in both plans are effectively the same, with the exception of the synergies in the case of the MAADs scenario, the amalgamation scenario.  So the underpinning costs in both cases are based on the same underlying data.  However, the revenue requirement is calculated using two very different mechanisms.  Under custom IR it's based on revenue requirement.  Under the Amalco scenario it's based off of starting -- price-starting revenues and escalated at the PCI plus any adjustments for ICM projects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But the ICM calculation is the same in both cases.  The capital cost is the same in both cases, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So -- but we gave you an opportunity, if you look at page 38 of our materials, we specifically in the technical conference on the third day gave you the opportunity to show us that your custom IR scenario had some underlying solid foundation, and all you could tell us was, well, it was management experience.  Isn't that right?

MR. REINISCH:  So again, as I just said, the way that the 2019 cost-of-service forecast, the underpinning costs were derived, we had 2016 data from actual results available to us, we were partway through 2017, so we included our 2017 actuals plus how we expected 2017 to finish, and then we were in the process of developing a detailed budget for 2018 for both utilities.

So based on that information, which consists of detailed bottom-up analysis, that was the starting point.  On to that, to arrive at a 2019 number, we made assumptions.  Those assumptions have been laid out throughout the record.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's almost identical to the answer you just gave me a minute ago.  You don't need to repeat it.  What I'm asking is, was there any -- when you do a custom IR -- and we have two people who have done them, so we -- or who have worked on them, I guess -- you have to do a lot of detailed budgeting, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't do that.

MR. REINISCH:  We did a significant amount of detailed budgeting for the 2018 year, and from that we did the assumptions, we relied on the assumptions, to get to 2019.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the period from 2019 to 2028, that 10-year period, you have no detailed analysis of your costs other than your capital plan, right?  None.

MR. REINISCH:  So again, we've assumed costs increase by approximately 2 percent for the first few years and then slightly less or around 2 percent for the remaining years.  That is our O&M cost assumption.  We do not have detailed line-by-line items on which costs may be going up and which costs may be going down by more or less than our forecasted inflation rate.  We have not done that analysis out 10 years, but we do have comfort that the estimate inflation rate is appropriate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The -- I wonder if you can go back to page 32.  So your 2019 estimate of revenue or revenue requirement -- revenue in one case, revenue requirement in the other case, right -- are almost identical, right?  2530 versus 2531?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you actually come at those numbers very differently, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let's unpack that a little bit.  So let's start with opening rate base, and for this maybe you could turn to page 18 of our materials.  We had a discussion with Mr. Culbert on the first day of the hearing at page 78 in which, Mr. Culbert, you noted that Enbridge's rate base is significantly higher than is built into your rates, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, in 2018 our rate base is higher than was built into rates for a variety of different things that have occurred during that period.  The company, if I might finish, the company does forecasting for many costs, many projects, Mr. Shepherd.  It does forecasting for capex, it does forecasting for O&M, a variety of other things, and management manages those costs, and in certain circumstances it's able to beat its budget for certain costs and for other things it has got additional costs, so part of that, as we discussed, was the GTA project is a significant variance.

Along with that capital variance for the GTA project, if I recall back to the GTA proceeding, there were also significant benefits that accrued from that GTA project to ratepayers, and in the GTA project I think there was an estimate of somewhere between 750 million and a billion dollars of gas-supply-related savings, and those have been accruing to customers since the GTA project went into effect.

So I think the Board would need to understand all of the variances that have occurred relative to rate base and not just assume that because there is an overspend it has been imprudent management.  That's my view.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I did not raise prudence.  I wasn't even planning to, but thank you for doing so.

What I wanted to ask, though, is I wanted to confirm that that amount of rate base -- which has been confirmed to be 457 million dollars, right?

MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And we've actually included at pages 47 and 45 of our materials the source information for that 457 million dollar difference.  That 457 million dollars of additional rate base would be included and is included in your stand-alone straw man but is not included in your Amalco proposal, because you're not rebasing, right?

MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  In the stand-alone we have assumed that those costs were prudently incurred and would go into rates.  You're entirely correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so I want to go to page 49 of our materials, in which we've done a calculation, which I understand you agree with, of the impact of that 457 million dollars over 10 years, and it's 369.1 million dollars, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, thereabouts.  It's probably a little bit higher, but thereabouts, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you agreed with these numbers.

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  Like I said, it's probably a little bit higher, but they're pretty close.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. CULBERT:  I think it's about another million dollars a year because of different asset -- you've done a simple proration using the GTA line, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which you then agreed with.

MR. CULBERT:  We did, and I'm saying if you use all the detailed asset categories it might be about another million dollars each year, so we're in the ballpark, to your point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So 369 million dollars.  So basically under your proposal you give that up, right?  You give up 369 million dollars of revenue requirement over the next 10 years.

MR. CULBERT:  Well, we don't give it up.  If you look at the first year, to your point, if you look at the total revenues that would have come from a consolidated -- the two companies applying under CIR, it's assumed to go into rates in those scenarios that we just agreed.  And if you look at the rate that's coming from the Amalco to price cap, they're pretty close.

So I understand where you're coming from is you don't get to put those in rates.  Well, the rates are pretty close in terms of a price cap to those, so one could assume that, you know, you are in fact recovering whatever your spend -- chosen spend has been over the past number of years.  I think you do that all the time in a price cap.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want you to go back to page 21.  One of the things that you gave up in your proposal is the ability to put that into -- that 457 million dollars into rates, and that cost you 369 million dollars.  You've got other things on the other side but you lost that, right?

MR. CULBERT:  And Mr. Reinisch has spoken to this.  I think you've got, actually, in your compendium has spoken to this -- I don't know if it was at the technical conference or...

MR. REINISCH:  Day 1 of the hearing.

MR. CULBERT:  Go ahead.

MR. REINISCH:  Page 19 of your compendium, where I did note that when you look at what we're putting forward it is an overall proposal.  So as we're going through we will go through a number of different items, but at the end of the day the fact is that there are two very different proposals.  One is a cost-based custom IR proposal.  The other one is a price cap launching off of a starting number.

And so again, the 457 million of opening rate base that's not being recovered, it's not being directly recovered under the Amalco scenario, but the framework that we're putting forth for Board approval would ensure that the utility is able to earn a reasonable rate of return and recover the costs that were prudently incurred.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I'm trying to do is I'm trying to unpack the components of that comparison, and one of the components is you have to give up that 369 million dollars, right?

MR. CULBERT:  It's -- you're correct.  It doesn't go into rates under the price cap.  It would go into the rates under -- but that's Mr. Reinisch's point, is there's a lot of gives and takes both ways.  I'll use O&M, for example.  We've all been talking about underages in O&M that EGD has had happen because of restructuring.  Well, if I look at FRPO -- C.FRPO.11, page 2 of 10, our operating and maintenance forecast for EGD for 2019 has effectively taken into consideration the start point of '17, where we're at 432 million dollars, which is approximately 30 million below Board-approved.  It's effectively taken that into account in the Amalco -- excuse me, the stand-alone revenue requirement calculations.

So that's Mr. Reinisch's points.  Yes, we have some capital amounts that aren't getting into rates because we're not doing a rebasing, but we have some O&M benefits that aren't getting into rates either because we're not doing a rebasing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We're going to come to those.

MR. CULBERT:  So that's the whole point of this exercise, is as long as we're able to find 410 million dollars of savings relative to our cost projections, we'll be able to get back to the price-cap returns.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

I want to -- I want to just ask before we leave this part, if you turn to page 50, this is a discussion that Mr. Garner was having on the second day of the hearing with Mr. Kitchen.  And Mr. Garner was talking about -- you were talking about the fact that there were variances, and there are variances in Union too, right?  Your rate base isn't what you expected it to be.

MR. REINISCH:  Can you please define "expected to be"?  We've been operating under a price cap for five years, so I'm not -- I don't understand the context of "expected to be".  Can you just provide some clarity to help me answer your --


MR. SHEPHERD:  If Union was rebasing you would rebase at whatever your rate base is, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.  In FRPO.11 we have outlined the rate base that we are expecting that we're forecasting for 2019.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And is it an increase over what was built into your rates?

MR. REINISCH:  Yes, we have made investments from 2013 through 2018 that have grown rate base that aren't captured in the capital pass-through mechanism.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you'd be giving that up too, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know how much that is?

MR. REINISCH:  I don't have that number off the top of my head.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it a big number or is it a small number?

MR. REINISCH:  I'd say reasonable size number, but again, we've been operating under a price cap, so we aren't looking at a line-by-line item of what we're overspending here, we're underspending here.  We're examining our business -- our utility as a whole and understanding what investments do we need to make, what savings can we realize, where can we find productivity.  All of those components go into our decision-making during a price cap IRM.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I think everybody has the point that you did it on a holistic basis, but I am trying to up unpack it, so you don't need to keep reinforcing the point.  We'll accept that's a qualification to everything you say.

I wonder if you can go to page 19 of our materials.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Shepherd, I'm just a little concerned that we've -- it seems like we're still on the first item in your chart, and I'm a little concerned about the time to go through the whole chart.  Will some of them be:  Do you agree this is, you know, on one side or the other, yes or no?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm on page -- just at the end of page 5 of 14 of my cross.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I think we should be okay.

So on page 19 -- this is the first day of the hearing -- the witness is talking about the fact that what you're doing is that your additional expenses, like higher capital costs, are being offset, and this is what you just said, I think, Mr. Culbert, by your past over-earnings, right?  And that is, you're able to save in other places and as a result get over-earnings that offset the fact that you have higher rate base, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I've had discussions with various people.  I wouldn't agree that over-earnings in and of themselves are something that carries forward.  Certain aspects of savings that the company has achieved would continue forward.  For example, I have had a brief look at the 2017 results, and there were additional tax deductions that occurred in that year from cost of retirements.  Those won't necessarily be accruing going forward.  So it all depends on what is in the over-earnings that one suggests or might conclude would carry forward.  O&M savings from FTEs obviously would carry forward to some degree, but doesn't mean O&M would stay at that level for a period of time.  We have increases in O&M from maintenance costs, a variety of other things, salary and wage increases, so again I point to the fact that in 2017 our projection of -- our actual O&M was 432, 432 million, and in 2018 its projection for these stand-alone numbers is 438 million dollars, not a significant increase, and in 2019 the projection of O&M was 441.

So it has taken into consideration, to your point, some savings that have occurred in the O&M, but it's not all over-earnings in any one year that necessarily move forward or accrue forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me turn to the GTA reinforcement, which you referred to, and I'm not going to talk about whether it was prudent -- you had a 182 million cost overrun, right?

MR. CULBERT:  I'm sorry, I couldn't hear you, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You had a 182.3 million dollar cost overrun, correct?

MR. CULBERT:  We had a cost variance of 182 million dollars, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the value of that, if you look at page 49 of our materials, the value of that over ten years in revenue requirement is 147.3 million, right?  And that actually comes from JT3.22.

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I've had this conversation before with Mr. Garner, and as I said, you'd need to look at the entire benefits of the GTA project with respect to overspends, et cetera.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, my question is a different one.  My question is, in a rebasing you would be required to demonstrate the prudence of that, right?

MR. CULBERT:  We would be required to demonstrate the prudence of all expenses in our forecast, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is a particular cost overrun, which you'll agree generally ends up being a higher risk in a rebasing, true?

MR. CULBERT:  Depends on one's perspective.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't think that when you have a cost overrun on a big project that you have more risk that it might be disallowed?

MR. CULBERT:  No, I said it depends on one's perspective.  I'm sure some parties would argue that we ought not get recovery of the overspends, but to my point, we believe that project achieved many particular plans and resulted in significant savings to customers as a result of doing so.  So I don't believe we're at risk for that project overspend myself at all.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want to go back to page 21, because the value of that overspend is 147 million over 10 years, and you don't -- that's no longer at risk if you take the proposal that you have.  It might be at risk in rebasing -- you'll agree it might be at risk?

MR. CULBERT:  As I've said, I don't believe there is much risk, but it could be at risk.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you avoid that risk in your proposal, so that goes in your gets column.  That's a benefit.

MR. CULBERT:  It's one project that you're looking at versus a multitude of other projects and spends in other areas, so I would be in the Board's hands in terms of that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the stand-alone, of course, includes that, right?  But that's been included in your rate base since 2015?

MR. CULBERT:  It's been included in our actual rate base, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you had over-earnings in 2017 it includes that, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, and 2016, just because of the circumstances of timing of close, the earnings sharing amount that accrued to ratepayers was actually higher than what it was under the forecast basis because of timing of the project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess what I'm trying to get at is the earnings sharing number we have is -- for 2017 is 47.1 million dollars.

MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And pretty well all of your 457 million dollars of additional rate base is already in that, isn't it?  Most of it?

MR. CULBERT:  I would say a good portion of it is in there, sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that earnings sharing then -- sorry, that over-earnings of 47 million dollars, that's actually -- that actually already offset your -- most of your 369 million that you would give up on your rate base, right?

MR. CULBERT:  How did it mostly offset that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, because if it weren't for that additional money in rate base, that additional amount in rate base, you would have actually earned -- over-earned by 85 million, right?

MR. CULBERT:  The companies would have achieved a higher level of earnings for itself as well, yes, that's true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. CULBERT:  But we did have to spend those monies.  A good chunk of that 457 was spent prior to 2013, which, we didn't get into rates in the rebasing year for the CR application either because of the timing of our rebasing for that year.  So that's correct.  Our rates have not included recovery of a good portion of that capital for a number of years, but it doesn't mean that it was imprudently spent, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, but I guess my point is you sort of didn't need to have your rates recovered because you were already earning a lot more than your allowed rate of return, weren't you?  Remember that your whole point is you can't earn your allowed rate of return unless you have all these additional amounts plus 410 million dollars, but in the last 10 years -- or the last five years, sorry -- even with all this additional rate base you still made a lot of extra money, right?

MR. CULBERT:  The company had to manage its expenditures appropriately in order to get to a reasonable rate of return, yes.  That's what prudent management does, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want to turn to over-earnings.  And you commented that you didn't know what clawing back meant, and so I -- anticipating that possibility, I included the materials from, I think it was Energy Probe maybe included this previously, but I've included it without the markup so it's actually readable, where Mr. Janigan and Mr. Lister from Enbridge talk about the clawing back, and you'll agree, won't you -- and whoever wants to answer -- that if you go into a rebasing and you're over-earning, that unless you have additional cost increases one of the points of IRM is to give that back to the customers, right?  Build it into rates going forward?

MR. REINISCH:  So again, when you go into a custom IR you will do a breakdown of all of your costs.  We have done just that, and you can see in FRPO.11 we have provided details of all of the costs that make up our 2019 custom IR scenario.

When you do the numbers, when you compare that to what would be required to earn our allowed -- forecasted allowed ROE in 2019, it results in a rate increase from where we sit in 2018 rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That was non-responsive to my question.  I was actually asking about the principle, and the principle is in IRM when you rebase if you are collecting from customers more money than you need to get your allowed rate of return you give it back in the rates, right?  You build it back into rates.

MR. CULBERT:  We agree that it gets built into your cost projections on a go-forward basis, which I pointed out.  For EGD's O&M, it is built into our cost projections for O&M.  I can specifically take you to the line items and show you that, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for example, if -- in 2018 -- let's hypothesize.  In 2018 you collectively, the two companies, over-earn by 100 million dollars.  Then in order to get a rate increase for 2019 on rebasing you have to have cost increases of 100 million dollars plus your rate increase, right?

MR. CULBERT:  No, that's not necessarily true.  I pointed this out before.  It depends on what drives the over-earnings, Mr. Shepherd.  As I've said, we have cost retirements in our 2017 year which were just circumstance of operations.  Those won't necessarily occur going forward.  That's one example.  You'd need to look at all of the drivers of the over-earnings or sufficiency in their entirety to see which ones are something that continues forward and which ones aren't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want to turn to J1.2, another one of the undertakings, and in this is you confirming, Mr. Culbert, that in 2017 the sufficiency -- now, this is the grossed-up over-earnings, right?  This is grossed up for taxes, so it's a rate basis?  It's 47.1 million --


MR. CULBERT:  It's a gross over-earnings number, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I was all confused with this until I saw that.

Sufficiency is not over-earnings.  That's not the extra earnings that you get, that's the extra rates that you had over and above what you needed for your allowed --


MR. CULBERT:  That's gross revenues that were over and above what rates produced.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  And that's normalized?

MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  We normalized in that year because it was a warmer than normal winter.  We actually normalized in about 15 million dollars of earnings that we didn't have.  Ours -- our earnings sharing mechanism is off a normalized basis versus Union's on an actual basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, you normalized in earnings that you didn't have?

MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  It was a warmer than normal winter, so the normalization process is, if you had normal weather you would have had higher earnings.  We normalized in 15 million dollars of margin for sharing, which didn't really occur, but that's our mechanism.  Our mechanism is on a normalized basis.  Fr some years we normalize out margin, some years you're normalizing margin.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's supposed to work out in the long run, right?

MR. CULBERT:  If your budgeting tool, degree-day tool, is as accurate as one believes over a 20-year trend or 10-year trend it -- presumably it should work out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The -- when -- you only normalize past data, right?  Because in the -- when you look at future forecasts they're normalized by definition because you use normal weather, right?

MR. CULBERT:  They're assumed to be normal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The reason I ask that is because we're going to have to talk about forecast over-earnings, and they would by definition be normalized, right?

MR. CULBERT:  We're going to talk about forecast over-earnings?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. CULBERT:  Sure.

MR. REINISCH:  To clarify, for the purposes of producing FRPO.11, for the purposes of modelling the costs, we've assumed normal weather through the entire period from --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.

MR. REINISCH:  -- 2018, which was the starting point, all the way through 2028.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  All right.

So I wonder if you could go to J1.3.  And this shows that -- if you look at page 63 of our materials, this shows that Union over-earned in 2017 by 5.9 million dollars, right?  But that's actual, right?  That's not normalized.

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.  That's actual.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We can actually normalize that, though, couldn't we?  That's not that difficult to do, because we have the data in LPMA 18, which is at page 65 of our materials.  Do you see that?

MR. REINISCH:  Yeah, that is correct.  Our weather-normalized ROE for 2017 would have been 9.54, because we had taken -- to deal with the normal weather we had taken actions in an attempt to try to ensure that we were able to achieve at least a minimum of our allowed ROE during that year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the 22 basis points -- the 5.9 million is 22 basis points, right?

MR. REINISCH:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that means that 61 basis points is 16.35 million.  Will you accept that subject to check?

MR. REINISCH:  Yes, I believe that is correct, subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And in fact, if you look at SEC 19 at page 68 of our materials, you actually budget a sufficiency in 2018 for Union of 16.9 million dollars, don't you?

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.  We are projecting to earn an ROE of just over 9 and a half percent in 2018.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  You don't have a forecast for EGD sufficiency for 2018, do you?

MR. CULBERT:  No.  Or a deficiency.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, was that intended to be humorous, Mr. Culbert?

MR. CULBERT:  I don't have any insights as to what the 2018 numbers would look like at this point in time, was my point, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you wouldn't agree that it's appropriate to simply assume the 47 million from 2017, right?

MR. CULBERT:  I absolutely emphatically would not agree with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason is?

MR. CULBERT:  As I pointed out, there are numerous elements of each year that are pertinent to that year.  The prime example I used is the cost of retirements which occurred in that year because of a variety of projects, some of which contributed to the capital spending increases that we see, relocations, and replacement projects.  Those things happen all the time.  We complete those projects as is necessary, and there is a cost of retirement that happens along with those projects, so there was an increase, which is a tax-deductible item during the year, but it doesn't necessarily mean that it would continue into the next year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then the cost is also in 2017, isn't it?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, that's -- we've had that discussion before.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then the cost wouldn't be in 2018, the tax deduction wouldn't be, but neither would the cost, so your over-earnings should be higher ---

MR. CULBERT:  No, but the cost continues in your rate base going forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The cost of the retirements?

MR. CULBERT:  The cost of a retirement gets -- locks in what your net book value is for a period of time until there's a reset of your depreciation study, so...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fine.  Well, what we calculated is that you have -- we know what the Union amount is, 16.9 million for 2018, and the closest we have for Enbridge is 47.1, which is 64 million dollars.  Whatever the over-earning number is -- and I know you're not going to agree with the 64 million dollar number -- you don't have a better number, right?

MR. CULBERT:  I do not have a number for 2018 at all, and --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.

MR. CULBERT:  -- I wouldn't agree with whatever your calculation is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sure.  But whatever that is is included in your stand-alone numbers, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Could you explain what you mean by -- is embedded, you're saying?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, embedded in your -- well, it has to be, because you had to get from whatever your existing costs were to costs that were above allowed rate of return, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Well, as Mr. Reinisch has pointed out and I've mentioned numerous times, the 47 million or whatever number you've calculated isn't necessarily portable to a 2019 projection.  As Mr. Reinisch pointed out, there is a projected increase for Union in 2019.  On a stand-alone basis EGD would have approximately a 40 million dollar increase in rates, 40 million dollar deficiency in 2019, part of which would be approximate 26 million dollar O&M variance relative to 2018 rates because of FTEs, et cetera, but there were increases that occurred in '18 and '19 for O&M.  O&M doesn't stay static.  And the capital variances we've spoken about would be going into rates as well, along with adjustments that we've proposed as base rate adjustments, which are -- were smoothing mechanisms that have reached the end of their conclusion.  That would be our SRC tax deduct, which no longer exists, and the 5 million dollar credit we're putting through rates for CIS, smoothing --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Here is what I don't understand about that.  In 2017 you already had this stuff in rate base, so the initial cost of rate base is not affecting your change from 2018 to 2019 because it was already in, but your over-earnings are already included --


MR. CULBERT:  But it's not in our rates for 2018, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but the over-earnings would have been larger by the same amount.

MR. CULBERT:  Again, the calculations stand for themselves.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. CULBERT:  I'm not sure what to tell you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  These -- the savings that you had and the over-earnings in 2017, they include the impact -- the full year impact of your restructuring in 2016, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said that in --


MR. CULBERT:  For the most part, yes.  I would agree.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- page 74 of our materials.


MR. CULBERT:  Depending on when the timing came through in '16 you would have a full year impact in '17, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, it should be then even greater in '18, because all the carryover stuff from '16 to '17 is no longer in, so '18 would be even higher, right?

MR. CULBERT:  It could be marginally higher.  Again, it would depend on the timing of when the restructuring occurred in '16 relative to '17 and then to '18.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And all those savings -- whatever was in the over-earnings, on rebasing that would be captured, yes?

MR. CULBERT:  I'm sorry, could you repeat --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It would all be captured in your costs on rebasing, right?

MR. CULBERT:  And as I pointed out, they are captured in our cost projections.  If you look at FRPO.11, the 2017 O&M, which had all those impacts in it, was 432, increased to 438 in 2018 and 441 in 2019.  Those aren't significant increases in O&M.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want to go back to page 21, and so the over-earnings component -- again, remember, we're unpacking, so we're going to get to all the increased stuff, but the over-earnings component, if it was 64 million, which I know you haven't agreed to, but if it was, then that would be about 675 million dollars impact over the next 10 years, right?  64 million if you escalated over 10 years about 675 million dollars, right?

MR. REINISCH:  Mr. Shepherd, I can't agree with the premise of that question.  When it comes to what is the utility, quote unquote, getting out of this, the over-earnings aren't forecasted and aren't projected to carry forward throughout the deferred rebasing period.  There are a number of components that make up our ability in any given year to achieve allowed ROE and to exceed the allowed ROE, but there are things like taxes, like depreciation expense, that will vary from year to year depending on asset retirements, different asset classes that get placed into service.

When an IT -- large IT project goes into service, like it is for Union in 2018, we will have a tax deduction, which will increase our 2018 earnings.  That tax deduction is one year.  After that there will be a larger tax expense, and then obviously the rate base associated with placing that asset into service that will form a drag on earnings from 2019 onward.  Exactly the same thing will happen in 2023, 20 -- whenever other large IT projects go into service.

So again, the key here is when you look at our 2019 forecasted costs, we've provided that in FRPO.11.  It gives a detailed breakdown of what those costs are.  With respect to over-earnings, when you add up and you sum up all of the various costs that we have estimated, we have forecasted, which are built off of our 2018 costs, which result in excess earnings, when you roll that forward to 2019 we are not in a position where we are over-earning.  Our custom IR has us coming in at our forecasted allowed ROE.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you file for a custom IR, an actual custom IR, not this custom IR like that you have here, if you file for an actual custom IR, the Board would have five years of detailed data and could see how your costs increased, could see why you over-earned in one year and the next year you needed a rate increase.  The Board could see it.

Your evidence doesn't allow the Board to see that, does it?  Because I'm going to ask you to point to it, if it does.

MR. REINISCH:  I've explained how the forecast was developed, and we believe that they're a reasonable forecast of what costs are based off of actual results from '16 rolling forward to what we expect in 2019.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  That's not responsive to the question.  Does the evidence before the Board right now allow the Board to look and see how your costs increase from over the last five years to the 2019 costs that you're alleging are correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Shepherd, we have not filed a detailed rebasing application, so obviously all the schedules that would go to support that are not available.  However, as Mr. Reinisch said, the forecast didn't just come out of the air.  We based it off -- I'm not going to repeat it, because it's already on the record, but it was based off of a number of years' experience and projections for '19, and it is what would be underpinning a basing application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so because it's based on that approach, the Board has to take your word for it because the Board can't look under the hood and see whether it's reasonable, can it?

MR. KITCHEN:  This is not a rebasing application, it's a MAADs application with a framework.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Perfect.  Thank you.  Well, I know you're not going to agree to it, but I'm going to put 675 million dollars in, no clawback of earnings, and we'll object and we'll argue about it in argument.

Madam Chair, it's one minute to 11:00, and --


MS. ANDERSON:  I was just about to suggest that we take the morning break.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll well beyond halfway.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  20 minutes.
--- Recess taken at 11:01 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:22 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

So I have a series of questions that are sort of confirmation of things that what they would call on Reach for the Top toss-ups, following the motif from earlier.

The first is you've asked for some rate base adjustment -- or, sorry, base rate adjustments, and if you look at page 32, you're asking for a 4.8 percent increase in your revenue from 2018 to 2019, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that's made up -- you have the 17.4 million dollars of deferred taxes, which is an increase that, because it's -- you basically -- you've paid it all back now, right?  And a 4.9 million dollar reduction in -- for the customer care smoothing amount, because that's no longer necessary, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so over the course of the 10 years that's -- that increases your revenues by 140 million dollars, but I take it you would agree that you would get that in stand-alone or in your current proposal, right?  You're going to get it either way.

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's one of the neutrals, 140 million dollar in neutral.  It's the same either way.  And you haven't calculated it differently in either case, right?

MR. REINISCH:  It's been calculated the same way under both scenarios.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So then I want to go to -- you're going to give up some base rate adjustments, and the one that's the most important, I think, is you would expect to -- if you rebased to have an increase in your ROE, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.  Based on rising interest rates our forecasted ROE is higher.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you're currently forecasting 9.15 percent and, for example, EGD has baked into rates 9.0 percent, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And Union has 8.93 percent.

MR. REINISCH:  That is also correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so those two increases, 15 basis points for EGD and 22 basis points for Union, will you accept subject to check that they total, when you gross it up to a deficiency, 11.5 million dollars?  I can tell you the math if you want.

MR. REINISCH:  Can you repeat the numbers, sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  11.5 million dollars.

MR. REINISCH:  11.5 million per year?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.  Per year.

MR. REINISCH:  Subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so that's about 115 million over the 20 years, which is something that you give up if you -- it's a -- it's something that you lose with the Amalco proposal, because you don't get to build those into rates, right?  You instead have a formula.

MR. REINISCH:  Correct.  The formula will inflate rates based off of those embedded ROEs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Off the old ROEs.

MR. REINISCH:  Yeah, sorry off the 2018 ROE for EGD and the 2013 ROE for Union.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  Now, so you give up that 115 million dollars, but as you say, it's all -- balances out, right?  The -- a couple of other things are neutral here.  One is, you've agreed, I think, that under your current proposal you have an inflation increase of 2.246 billion dollars over the 10 years, right?  We went back and forth by e-mail this morning on this.

MR. REINISCH:  Yes, so that increase includes inflation based on costs as well as an inflation based on capital investment, I believe.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Really?  Because I thought it just was based on existing capital because the ICM covers all the new capital; isn't that right?

MR. REINISCH:  My apologies.  Sorry, could you refer to where you're pointing the numbers out just so I'm not accidentally confusing myself?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The numbers from an e-mail between myself and Mr. Mandyam this morning, which I assume is your number.  It actually corrected my number.  That's why I thought this was going to be simple, because we agreed.

MR. REINISCH:  Yes, so the -- yes, the inflation as a result of the PCI escalator would be approximately 2.2 billion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And your growth in customers is also expected to give you another 1.069 billion dollars, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct; we will incur incremental costs to serve new customers and be happy to deliver them new natural gas service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I wasn't asking about the cost, though, I was asking about the revenues.  Your proposal includes 1.069 in incremental revenues from those customers, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Does that build in the normalized average use in the AU accounts?

MR. REINISCH:  So we've assumed normal use, so effectively -- and again, I'm not an expert on normalized average consumption or the Enbridge Gas Distribution equivalent, but at the end of the day our forecasts assume average use, so that we neither win nor lose based off of changes to average use, that we are kept whole, as are ratepayers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So both of your forecasts, your stand-alone forecast and your Amalco forecast, assume that there is no declining use or, if there is, it's captured in your accounts, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.  The rate neutrality mechanisms, and we've assumed that rates remain neutral as a result of any changes in consumption.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  So I'm going to put those inflation and growth amounts in my table on page 21 as neutral, because they are the same in either case, right?

MR. REINISCH:  Mr. Shepherd, I don't believe I can agree with that for the following reason.  So those are two numbers that really are contained within the MAADs scenario, which is based off of a price-cap inflator, as well as incremental revenue through customer growth.  The CIR -- the custom IR scenario, the stand-alone utilities, that is being based off of costs, so again, there's a cost element versus a revenue element.  They're modelled differently.  So I don't think I can agree to your premise.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You estimated your costs under the custom IR, I thought, using the same inflation factor, didn't you?

MR. REINISCH:  With respect to the revenue increase, inflationary revenue increase?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, no, with respect to the cost increases.  Didn't you estimate it based on the same inflation factor because you had no other basis to do so?

MR. REINISCH:  No, under the custom IR we assumed that operating and maintenance costs went up between 2 and -- roughly 2 percent on average throughout the 10-year period.  Our capital costs, on the other hand, which make up a portion of that revenue increase due to inflation, those are driven -- those costs are driven by the asset management plan, so they're not tied directly to revenue.  They're decoupled.  That's part of a price-cap mechanism, where you're decoupling your revenues from your costs for a period of time to incent the utility to find cost-efficiencies.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's interesting, because you're asking for 1.2 billion dollars of incremental capital revenues, and those incremental capital reserves are based on the same asset management plan, right?

MR. REINISCH:  So the 1.2 billion dollars, just to confirm, is you're referring to the ICM revenue requirement; is that correct?  So that's capital in excess of what our rates can afford.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your rates have in them part of your capital plan, and the rest of it, 1.2 billion dollars, is incremental.  How is that different from your custom IR?  Isn't that the same total?

MR. REINISCH:  So the base capital amounts under both scenarios are different.  The base rates under the amalgamated Amalco scenario jump off of 2013 rates and 2018 rates for Union Gas and EGD respectively, so that's the starting point for that price escalation of 2.2 billion over the 10-year period.  So that is different under the two scenarios.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Didn't we -- sorry, didn't we already account for that?  That's why I'm trying to unpack it.  We already said 369 million dollars.  Got that.  So go on.  What are the other differences?

MR. CULBERT:  Mr. Shepherd, the 369 million is for capital variances that occurred prior to the start of our custom IR application.  What Mr. Reinisch is saying is you've got capital for the 10-year period, some of which is ICM, and we agree that that's a constant.  The ICM is a constant.  It's the other capital projections in the stand-alone which are different from the price-cap assumptions, because the price cap is assuming a base set of rates that have a certain amount of capital embedded in them.  For Union it's 2013.  For us it's 2018.  Our cost projections for '19 and beyond, the base capital, not ICM, are different than those base amounts that are in a price cap.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We'll come back to that in a minute.  I want to just deal with growth first and make sure that we've got that.  You haven't included in your straw man costs any increases for growth, have you?

MR. REINISCH:  We've included -- there's two components, there's two costs, that growth drives.  The first cost is capital costs, meter sets, mains, et cetera.  Those costs have been included as part of our asset management plan and are included in the custom IR scenario.  Incremental operating and maintenance costs, however, have not been included.  We have not -- as discussed at the hearing earlier with I believe Mr. Buonaguro, we have not included incremental O&M costs in our custom IR scenario.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you have -- and O&M, when you attach new customers, the O&M component is very small, right?

MR. REINISCH:  So for Union Gas we're attaching approximately 20,000 customers a year.  That drives approximately two and a half million dollars of incremental O&M costs, including property taxes and all the various components required from an operating and maintenance perspective.  So 2.5 million over 10 years is 25 million dollars.  For EGD, I'm not sure if their costs were attached from O&M perspective, but if it's something similar they're adding 30,000 customers.  It would probably be roughly in that ballpark.  So those costs have not been included in our custom IR model.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's interesting, because 25 million dollars seems like it's a rounding error in your numbers, isn't it?

MR. REINISCH:  So that's 25 million dollars per year by 2028, is their incremental costs, so in year 1 we'll add 20,000 customers, incur 2.5 million dollars in gas.  In year 2 we'll add another 20,000 customers, so now we're up to 40,000 customers.  We'll add another two and a half million dollars, so our O&M costs will have increased between our base year and after the second year by 5 million dollars, and it will then continue to grow each year as we progress through a deferred rebasing period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  2.5 times 55, we're over 55 for 10 years, right?

MR. REINISCH:  Yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's what, 110 million?  No, more.  135 million?

MR. REINISCH:  Subject to check.  Try to do the math in my head.  Yeah, it's -- yeah, I'm just trying to figure out the mathematical equation.  Approximately 125 million dollars cumulative over the period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And some of that is picked up by the fact that your OM&A assumption is higher than inflation, right?

MR. REINISCH:  Again, for different reasons, but, yes, there is an assumption for Union Gas that starting partway through the deferred rebasing there will be increased OM&A costs above inflation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's correct that when you add customers the bulk of the costs are capital costs, not operating costs.  The impact on your revenue requirement is way more for capital than for operating, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the revenues are supposed to cover both, right?

MR. REINISCH:  The incremental revenues are supposed to cover both --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.

MR. REINISCH:  -- over a 40-year period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. REINISCH:  When we calculate our PI to attach a new customer it's not in a discrete year.  It's calculated over the lifetime of that customer.  So if we assume that a new residential customer or school attaches to our system, we will do the calculation over a 40-year period.  So in any given year there may be a deficiency created generally because capital costs are higher to attach customers than they have been in existing rates.  It's been going up.  The economics in the early years are generally negative.  There is a deficiency in the early years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's captured in the ICM, right?

MR. REINISCH:  No, that is not captured in the ICM.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You modelled the ICM on the basis of cost of service, right?

MR. REINISCH:  Not for 50,000 new customers that we attach.  That's part of our base business.  My understanding of the ICM mechanism is that base growth, so base customer additions, that's part of what the utility is expected to do, those would not be ICM-eligible projects, because they're, you know, a residential office building, a school, a small commercial industrial customer.  That's just part of what we do.  So base rates would be expected to cover that, not the ICM mechanism.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they go into the calculation of the capital you're spending to get up to the threshold, right?

MR. REINISCH:  They're expected to be covered underneath the threshold, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so that means that other projects that do qualify are above the threshold.  This is just math, right?  You expect that your total budget will be covered.

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I don't need to deal with that.  And I wonder if I can go then to productivity, because one of the things you said, which took me aback, I guess, a little bit is -- and this is in -- on page 82 of our materials.  This is the second day of the hearing.  You said that there is implicit productivity because you didn't include increases for -- in OM&A for growth, right?  That's like a built-in productivity factor, right?

MR. REINISCH:  So when we modelled the custom IR scenario we did not model a cost -- and this is cost-based scenario, so we did not model incremental OM&A costs associated with attaching new customers.  Within the price cap, the Amalco, we used the same underlying O&M assumption, so embedded in that we've also assumed that there is no incremental OM&A to attach the approximately 50,000 new customers a year.  There is operating and maintenance cost increases to attach new customers.  During the CIR that scenario is cost-based, so it ignores that those customers will bring new revenue.  It is simply a cost breakdown.  This is what our costs are, and we are seeking recovery.  The denominator will change based on the number of customers as you go out.  Within the Amalco, again, we've made an assumption that there will be productivity to offset those incremental costs, and that has been embedded into the underpinning costs that we've used to drive our expected return on equity for Amalco during the deferred rebasing period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you disagree with Mr. Culbert, who said that there was no productivity in the custom IR assumptions.

MR. REINISCH:  I believe that Mr. Culbert -- I'm happy to correct if wrong, but he was referring to a traditional productivity or stretch factor, so something that would be applied to the overall custom IR index.  There was no factor applied to that.  What I was speaking to is an implicit productivity assumption baked into the cost buildup that was used to derive the numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So basically what the Board said it didn't want you to do in custom IR, which is bake it into your costs, that's what you did?

MR. REINISCH:  It was one category of costs that, given the custom IR, we -- there would have been reason to potentially include those costs as part of our buildup for the custom IR scenario.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And your claim to this Board now is that you built in 135 million dollars of productivity because you didn't build in increasing OM&A costs.

MR. REINISCH:  That would just be for Union.  There would be an incremental amount for EGD as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So 300 million?

MR. CULBERT:  In EGD's projection of costs we assumed that the 2 percent inflation factor that we used in O&M and the 1.73 for the final years assumed that cost increases for these types of things were embedded in that percentage.  Union did not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you assumed that inflation would cover you for those costs?

MR. CULBERT:  We assumed that our base amount, because we're in a custom IR application for five years, sufficiently had amounts that were pertinent to the customers we've been adding for five years.  Union has been on a price cap for a period of, as we know, 10 years, where its costs have been disassociated with its prices.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good, thank you.

So then let's turn to productivity, because Dr. Makholm and Dr. Lowry both agree on zero productivity, and you've assumed no productivity in both your proposal and in your stand-alone straw man, right?   But you've in fact over the last 10 years over-earned every year so you have delivered productivity every single year for the last 10 years.  Both companies, right?  Is that true?

MR. REINISCH:  Union Gas -- I'll speak for Union Gas.  Union Gas has been in incentive regulation periods.  This will be ending our third period.  The objective of any incentive regulation period is to incent the utility to deliver safe, reliable service, financial viability, and to seek out cost reductions that are sustainable.

At the end of the day when you take a look at how we have over-earned, there are many drivers for over-earning during the last 10 years, some of which are I'll say one-offs or they were temporal in nature that aren't reoccurring.  There were others -- lower interest rates, lower pension expenses, depreciation expense changes, taxes -- there's a whole host of items that make up in any given year the reason for being able to over-earn.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Reinisch, I think Mr. Shepherd's question was you have.  You break it down, you have over-earned every year, right?  


MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.

MS. SPOEL:  So therefore, for whatever reasons, there have been various productivity things over those years that have allowed you to over-earn?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.  Some of are productivity, some were related to short-term transportation deferral accounts.  Those types of things as well.

MS. SPOEL:  Okay, thanks.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, and thank you that was actually perfect.  Could you go to page 91 of our materials.  This is from FRPO.15.  Union has in fact had a productivity factor of 60 percent of inflation for the last 5 years, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you were able to meet that, deliver that productivity plus more every single year, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.  And the primary driver for that is outlined in one of the IR, or undertaking responses, is lower interest rates, that as we refinanced interest rates over the last 5 years we've seen significant decreases in our interest rate expense.  This has allowed to us achieve higher than our allowed ROE during this current incentive rate mechanism period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't have calculations of that in the evidence, do you?  The reason I ask that is because when we talked to you earlier in the technical conference about interest rate risk going forward and going up, you said oh, we could have a terrible problem here and in fact that is what you told your board of directors, it could be a terrible problem.  But then when we did the math, it was nothing.  It was a rounding error, right?

MR. REINISCH:  Again, we didn't indicate that it was a terrible problem to our board of directors.  We flagged it as a potential risk to our board of directors, one that we would have to manage and mitigate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it turned out in this period, this 10-year period of increasing interest rates, the impact was almost nothing, right?  On your own forecast.  Isn't that true?

MR. REINISCH:  Based on our existing forecast, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why should we assume the last 5 years 
-- it had a huge impact to the tune of these sorts of numbers?

MR. REINISCH:  Could you bring up -- I believe it's KT3.2, I believe.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  KT?


MR. REINISCH:  No it's KT.  I might be wrong.  It might be KT3.4 or 5, then.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's probably 3.4.  Are you talking about the interest rate table?


MR. REINISCH:  Yes, the interest rate.  Is it 3.1?  sorry.  3.1, please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  3.4, I think.

MR. REINISCH:  3.4?  I have marked it incorrectly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I do believe.

MR. CASS:  It looks like it may be KT3.2.  Possibly Lorraine could get that up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That one.  Yeah, okay.


MR. REINISCH:  Yes.  If you can zoom in on I'll say the left-hand side, where it shows the interest rates for the various different debt instruments.

I'll start from the bottom, actually, and work my way up.  This does show at the bottom the impact on interest expense based on our current debt and the refinancing schedule for current existing debt.  And as you can see, when you look at a number of the debt issuances that have taken place that are at the bottom there, we're looking at interest rates of 2.81, 2.88 percent; there's 3.19, 3.79. These are attractive interest rates, and in a rising interest-rate environment, those are expected to need to be refinanced during the proposed deferred rebasing period.  

With respect to our ability to continue to replace high-priced debt at a lower rate based on existing forecasts, based on our interest rate projections, as this exhibit points out, that is unlikely to be the case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact you're going to replace 9.85 percent and 8.85 percent and 7.6 percent debt at lower rates, right?  If you go to the right hand, you see the total impact over 10 years; isn't that right?


MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.  And the total impact is very marginable when compared to the overall cost of the utilities.  Again, the point I'm making here is the ability to refinance debt at lower rates is fairly limited.  This assumes that we are refinancing the debt at our forecasted rate, and as we have pointed out, there are some savings in some instruments; there are some extra costs.  Overall it's fairly negligible.  

But to assert there may be opportunities to refinance debt at lower rates as we go through this 10-year deferred rebasing period, again, that is very challenging given the current interest-rate environment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why wouldn't -- you don't have information in the record that shows us this huge impact of interest over the last 5 years, interest rates, right?  You don't have that in the record.  So why wouldn't we simply conclude that the last 5 years would be like the next 10 years?  Interest rates will have a negligible impact?

MR. REINISCH:  Again this chart here shows the forecasted impact on interest rates starting from our 2019 costs going forward through 2028.  As you can see, interest rates are expected to have a fairly negligible impact, neither negative nor positive, on the utilities as we progress through the deferred rebasing period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  My question is, for the last 5 years -- your claim is a big chunk of your over-earning is as a result of declining interest rates.  I'm saying where is your evidence for that, because the best evidence we have right now is your own forecasts going forward where it goes in the opposite direction and has almost no effect.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, the evidence is Mr. Reinisch has just told Mr. Shepherd this is what has happened in the past 5 years to create an area where Union Gas has been able to earn better opposite its allowed return than might otherwise have been the case.  He has said that.  I don't know what Mr. Shepherd has in addition to that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Going forward we have math.  I'm asking, do we have math?  For the past -- can you tell us how much was the cost of declining interest rates for you in the last 5 years?  Can you show us what that cost was?

MR. REINISCH:  Two points.  That is not on the record as it sits today, is the first point, to respond to your question.  The other thing I will point out, though, is the lower interest expense is included in our 2019 cost forecast.  So the results of those interest rate savings have been factored into the basis point which we are proposing that forms the basis of the custom IR expenses costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We're not talking about that.  We're talking about how come you over-earned for the last 5 years, and you say it's because of declining interest rates.


MR. CASS:  Yes, and I don't have the reference, Madam Chair, but that has been said in the record.  That statement is in the record.  If someone had wanted to ask for the backup to it, that could have been done some time ago.

MR. KITCHEN:  There was also an undertaking.  I can't remember the number, but there was an undertaking that we put that forward.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Shepherd, isn't it a matter for argument whether or not the interest forecast should be based on a forecast or historical trends?


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, sorry, I wasn't going in that direction.

MS. ANDERSON:  Can you help me where you're going, then?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  The witness is saying that we weren't really as productive as it looks like over the last 5 years because we had the luxury of lower interest rates, and that's a big chunk of all these savings.  And I don't care about the future.  I'm asking about the past now, because if they were able to be significantly productive with these sorts of productivity factors, still over-earning, if the bulk of that is productivity, they have got to answer why can't they be productive going forward.  They haven't yet.  They've just said we can't.  And that, of course, will be a key issue in people's arguments, right, is what productivity factors should there be, if any.


MS. ANDERSON:  But we don't have that information on the record.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The witness has made a claim that we weren't really as productive as it looks like, and I'm inviting him to demonstrate the basis for that.  He can't.  That's all I needed.


MR. REINISCH:  Can I bring up JT3.18.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. REINISCH:  3.18, please.  3.18.  This undertaking response provided the variance explanations.  It did not, however, quantify the variance explanations.  With respect to the lower interest expense, by the time that we get to 2018 our lower interest expense is driving over 30 million dollars per year of lower costs.  So that has allowed the utility to achieve above allowed ROE.  It has also allowed the utility to make investments in capital to help maintain and grow the system.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Where is the 30 million dollars?  I don't see it.

MR. REINISCH:  It was not included in this undertaking response.  I am providing evidence to be helpful to the Board.  That is my evidence.

MR. REITDYK:  Mr. Shepherd, I'm going to jump in here in this area of productivity that you have been going, as opposed to speaking to the interest rates.  I'll speak to some of the previous achievements that we've made on productivity in previous frameworks.  In fact, I've been personally part of a lot of the productivity initiatives in terms of driving those over previous frameworks, and we did that by centralizing a lot of the different functions, creating centres of excellence, and driving productivity through previous frameworks.


Quite frankly, we've run out of things to centralize or optimize.  You can always do a little bit better, but the improvements in productivity from here on in are quite marginal, which is why this proposal to amalgamate was so significant, because there isn't a better opportunity to drive those productivity improvements.

In fact, what we've done is we've clearly identified moderate to aggressive cost savings that would ultimately result over the 10-year period of time as a result of the amalgamation that would allow further centralization and optimization between the two organizations.  That's what's going to allow us to get to the next level.  Without that any future productivity savings would be marginal.


MS. LONG:  I'm sorry.  Mr. Reinisch, can we go back? You stated the number 30 million dollars, but there is nothing in the record that delineates the 38-million-dollar calculation; do I understand that correctly?  That's your evidence today, but there is nothing else in the record that breaks that down?


MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Am I right that if the Board were to say, well, fine, we'll give you your price cap, but we like this 60 percent of inflation productivity factor that Union had for the last 5 years, that would give you about 1.4 billion dollars less in rates over the next 10 years.  Will you accept that subject to check?  It's simply the growth amount times 40 percent or times 60 percent sorry.  Sorry the inflation amount.  Remember we had the inflation amount?

MR. REINISCH:  Yes.  Subject to check, that would decrease our revenues by approximately that amount.  Again, I must point out, though, that when you take a look at how sensitive our proposal is, we are forecasting to earn 20 bases points above allowed ROE, forecast allowed ROE during the 10-year rebasing.  That's a stretch factor of 9 basis points, so .09, would eliminate any over-earnings above forecasted allowed.  A 60 percent stretch factor productivity factor would put us significantly below our allowed ROE.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's begging the question because that's what we're testing in this cross-examination.  Everybody gets it that you claim that you need all this money to earn your allowed rate of return.

MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Mr. Shepherd is arguing with the witness now.  If perhaps we could have questions.  That's an argument.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The witness wanted to give a speech and I wanted to respond.  I'm sorry.

I want to turn to stretch factor, and we've agreed I think in J4.1 that the stand-alone straw man had a stretch factor, it would be that that would reduce revenues by 387 million dollars, right?  That's on page 99 of our materials, with a detailed calculation on page 100 of our materials.


MR. REINISCH:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if your proposal was implemented with a stretch factor, that would mean your revenues over the 10-year period as you currently forecast, and you see them on page 100 the second line, 29.261 billion dollars.  Right?

MR. REINISCH:  Yes.  If a 30-point-3 percent stretch factor was applied to the custom IR it would reduce our revenues by 387 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you would end up at 29.261 billion, right?


MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And your current proposal is 29.239 billion, right?


MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And do you have information that would help us understand why the Board would deviate from its practice of requiring everybody under custom IR to have a stretch factor, aside from Dr. Makholm's evidence?


MR. KITCHEN:  First of all, the -- our view is that our proposal positive have a stretch factor of zero is supported by the evidence of Dr. Makholm.  That's the basis of our evidence.  In terms of the question as to why the Board should deviate from having a stretch factor, I think again that goes to the evidence and that's something they will have to decide.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You'll agree that the Board has been pretty consistent in everybody's custom IR in saying you get a stretch factor, you get a stretch factor, you get a stretch factor.  Everybody gets one, right?


MR. KITCHEN:  I agree that there are numerous cases where the stretch factor has been applied, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I want to turn to the ICM I just have two subjects left.  The ICM may take a few minutes, but the last one won't.


MS. ANDERSON:  Before you move on, I want to do a quick time check, because by my count, you're at 110 minutes.  Given -- we need to complete this today.  Given Mr. Shepherd's testimony are others reducing some of their time?  I see some nods.  So I think we can carry on in that expectation.


MR. QUINN:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I exchanged e-mails with Mr. Shepherd earlier this morning and I alerted Mr. Richler that I only have two or three follow-up questions based on what he has done so far.  So he can have the majority of my time for panel 1.  I have about 40 minutes for panel 2.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I won't be more than 30 minutes.


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want to talk about ICM, and you've already agreed that it's the  same capital plan either way, and you very helpfully agreed with us this morning as to the numbers.  Your ICM capital total is 2.437 billion, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And your ICM revenues are 11 -- 1.184 billion?

MR. REINISCH:  That's also correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And your remaining rate base at the end of the period at the end of the 10 years for that ICM capital is 2.123 billion?

MR. REINISCH:  That is also the forecast, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The result of that is, by the way, over the 10 years we've only paid off 314 million of the 2.4 billion, right?

MR. REINISCH:  Correct.  A significant amount of that investment is in long life pipe assets, as per the asset management plan.  The depreciation rate on those assets is quite low.  They would be paid off over an extended period of time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're anticipating that in addition to collecting the 1.184 billion over the next 10 years you'll be able to collect the return and depreciation and everything on the 2.123 billion over the following period, right --


MR. REINISCH:  It's correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You agree that the ICM allows you to collect a good deal more from the customers than the capital pass-through mechanism did, right?  I can refer you to page 92 of our materials if you want.

MR. REINISCH:  The requirement -- I can agree that it is possible that the ICM would provide for greater recovery of revenue requirement than the capital pass-through.  However, in order to qualify for ICM eligibility there are a number of criteria that the Board has set out, and the projects would have to meet those criteria.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  And you've also assumed in your forecast, the Amalco forecast, that everything about the threshold qualifies, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct, with a few very small rounding items.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?

MR. REINISCH:  There were a few items -- this was discussed at the technical conference in depth.  There were a few items where there wasn't an assumption of recovery, but they're very, very small.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They're not material?

MR. REINISCH:  Not material.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.

Now, OEB staff did a table -- and this is at page 94 of our materials.  It's from K1.6, tab 6, that shows that if you use the ICM methodology you collect about 11 percent more than you would under a cost-of-service calculation.  Do you see that?  And you had a discussion with Mr. Millar about this.  Do you recall?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And Mr. Millar stopped his discussion because he said, well, you modelled it, you modelled both the stand-alone and the Amalco proposal on the basis of cost of service, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is no difference.

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's good.  Except that you're actually planning to collect your ICM money based on the ICM rules, right?

MR. REINISCH:  Sorry, which scenario are you -- there's two scenario 1s, which create some confusion here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your proposal includes modelling your ICM revenues on the basis of cost of service, not based on the ICM formula, right?

MR. REINISCH:  So the financial projections that we've included under the Amalco effectively mimic or represent scenario 1, the stop scenario there.  So as the rate base decreases throughout the deferred rate basing period the revenue requirement, all else being equal, will decrease, so we are not over-collecting as a result of the ICM mechanism.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But -- and so that's 1.184 billion dollars, right?  Is what we just agreed to is your total for the --


MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.  That is the revenue requirement to the ICM projects over the 10-year period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's not the amount that you would collect under ICM, is it?  Because you would have to follow the ICM rules, and you're proposing to use the regular ICM rules, right?

MR. REINISCH:  So again, we would capture any variances between what we collect and what the actual costs are into a deferral account, if I understand correctly.  Therefore those dollars would not go to the benefit of the shareholder.  If there is an excess in that account they would throw through to the ratepayers.  Whether those dollars would be disposed of annually through a deferral account disposition, as we do with the capital pass-through, or at the end of the deferred rebasing upon rebasing, that would be subject to a future proceeding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What's your proposal?  The reason I ask is it's about 120 million dollars, right?  The difference between the ICM collections and what you've modelled is about 120 million dollars, right?

MR. REINISCH:  So two things.  One, to clarify, we're proposing an annual deferral account disposition in order to ensure the -- to minimize potential intergenerational rate variances.  That is the first thing.  The second piece of that is we have modelled that those dollars are refunded to customers as the years progress.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you're going to collect them each year and then you're going to give them back?

MR. REINISCH:  That's what we've modelled.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That seems strange.  Why didn't you just propose an unusual ICM that's based on revenue requirement, collect the right amount in the first place?

MR. REINISCH:  That's what we're attempting to do, I believe.

MR. SHEPHERD:  By collecting too much and giving it back?

MR. CULBERT:  Well, no, the forecast assumes we will spend what we projected.  So it's like the normalized discussion we had earlier.  We believe the projections are what the ICM calculations are.  To the extent that there's variances is what Mr. Reinisch is talking about.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you know there's variances, right?  You know you're going to collect an extra 120 million dollars over those 10 years.  The math is pretty clear.

MR. REINISCH:  We have not modelled that collection in our MAADs scenario in FRPO.11.  That has not been modelled.  That overcollection has not been modelled.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So are you going to ask for collection under your ICM on the basis of cost-of-service revenue requirement or on the basis of the ICM rules?

MR. REINISCH:  Again, our understanding is that the ICM is meant to recover the actual costs of the projects that exceed the threshold and are approved.  So in our modelling that is what we have modelled.  We have modelled the actual costs, not a, as pointed out in the exhibit here, that we would collect effectively the revenue requirement in year one would be 10.5 million and we would continue to collect 10.5 million for 10 years and walk away with significant over-recovery of our actual costs.  That is not what we have modelled.  We have modelled that as rate base decreases the return of equity, the return of debt, will decrease correspondingly through the 10-year rebasing and the customers will benefit from that.  With a one-year lag they will benefit from that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I didn't ask you what you modelled.  I was very specific.  What are you proposing?  Are you going to collect based on the ICM rules or based on your model?

MR. REINISCH:  We are proposing to collect based off of the cost of the asset that's entered into service, capture any differences between the costs, the revenue requirement, and what is actually the revenue requirement, and then in a deferral account refund or if it goes the other way collect from customers any variance between actual and forecasted cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your proposal then is that you are not going to use the Board's standard ICM rules to calculate your ICM recovery each year; is that right?

MR. KITCHEN:  No, we will be following the ICM policy.  The only change that we propose from the existing ICM policy is that rather than applying the embedded cost of capital that we would propose to do it on an incremental basis.  That's the only deviation that we propose.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then you are planning to over-collect each year?

MR. KITCHEN:  This is where I'm actually getting fairly confused.  What we will do is we will bring forward as part of our annual rate application proposals to include in rates ICM projects.  The Board will then decide whether or not those are eligible for recovery, and that's what will get built into rates.  To the extent that there is then a deviation between the actual recovery and the forecast recovery, that will be refunded or collected from ratepayers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  You're answering a different question than I'm asking.

MR. KITCHEN:  Maybe I don't understand your question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So your forecast says we will collect each year from ratepayers the equivalent of the cost-of-service revenue requirement for our new qualified ICM capital; is that right?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's not in fact how the ICM rules work, as Board Staff has pointed out to you in K1.6, tab 6.  What they've pointed out is that the ICM rules over-collect by 11 percent.  And so I've asked you the question, are you going to follow those rules and over-collect or are you going to use the method that you built into your model?  And I think your answer is, no, you're going to follow these rules and over-collect, right?  And if you have to give it back each year you will.

MR. REINISCH:  Again, it's our understanding that any differences between the forecasted revenue requirement and the actual revenue requirement will be captured in a deferral account, and that deferral account will be disposed of annually.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, the differences between what you collect and the actual revenue requirement.

MR. REINISCH:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you over-collect by 11 percent each year then you'll have to give it back the next year, right, because it will be captured in the deferral account?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

I want to turn to page 28 and 29 of our materials.  This is from the famed FRPO.11.  And it's right, isn't it, that you calculated your ICM thresholds based on, well, in the case of Enbridge based on 2018 numbers, right?  Rate base and depreciation expense on 2018 numbers, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And for Union on page 29 using 2013 numbers, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the 2013 numbers have a rate base of 3734, and you'll agree that the current rate base is 6153, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.  The ICM mechanism, the ICM calculation, the threshold calculation would factor in an element of growth in PCI over the 2013 through 2018 period, so there is an expectation that our rate base would grow over that five-year period.  I also point out that a significant portion of that growth has been captured in the capital pass-through mechanisms.  Those have a treatment similar to what we've just described with ICM-eligible projects that, as those projects go through their life, the rate base for each of those projects decreases.  The revenue requirement, therefore, all else being equal, also decreases, and that depreciation expense is not available to be spent on other investments because there is no revenue recovery mechanism for that reinvestment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, help me with the last part.  You collect the money, right?

MR. REINISCH:  We collect the money and then we refund it if it's higher than what your actual costs are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The depreciation on your capital pass-through projects, you collect that money from the customers, yes?

MR. REINISCH:  Yes.  Can we go back to compendium --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, no, let me just ask the question.

MR. REINISCH:  I want to -- I want to make sure -- my apologies, Mr. Shepherd, but I would really like to finish my response.  I'd like to ensure that the Board is clear on what's happening with the capital pass-through mechanism to avoid any potential confusion.  Page 94 of the compendium, please.

So in year one we place an asset into service, and this is the top scenario number one.  We place an asset into service as the opening book value, debt costs, taxes, et cetera, et cetera, et cetera.   There's a revenue requirement of 10.5 million dollars.  That is our actual cost.  That is what we collect from customers.

As we proceed through the deferred rebasing period, so in the case of the capital pass-through from 2013 through 2018 we would see that each year as we collect dollars from customers our rate base is actually decreasing, again, all else being equal, taxes and O&M, et cetera.

And so at the end of the day our revenue requirement is also decreasing.  If we were to take the 3.03 million of depreciation expense and to reinvest it in maintenance capital activities, our revenue requirement would go down by a couple hundred thousand dollars, but our actual costs would be right back to the 100 million or 100 dollar book value.  So therefore we would have actual costs that are now disconnected from the revenue requirement we're collecting from customers.

So with respect to the capital pass-through that we've invested over the last few years, we're seeing the lower rate base is going to drive -- again, all else being equal -- to drive lower rates for customers.  We don't have that 3.03 million dollars to reinvest in other activities and maintenance activities underneath the ICM threshold because if we were to make that reinvestment we would see ourselves over a 10-year period we'd be about 20 percent under-collected with respect to what our actual costs are and what we would be putting through rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I actually have no idea what you just said, but it doesn't matter, because it had nothing to do with what I wanted to ask about.  So what I want to ask about is how you calculate the threshold for Union going forward.  You calculate the threshold.  You're using the 2013 rates, which are 196 million depreciation and 3.7 billion of rate base, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, your current depreciation is 298 million and your rate base is 6153, right?

MR. REINISCH:  And a significant amount of that is as a result of capital pass-through projects.  That depreciation expense, as I just explained, is not available to be reinvested in maintenance capital activities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you think that because of that you shouldn't use the normal rule, which is that you have the most recent rate base and depreciation as the calculation method?

MR. REINISCH:  The ICM policy would indicate that we would use the most recent Board-approved depreciation rate base numbers.  That is what we are proposing to do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't it -- or is it not true that if you used the current depreciation and the current rate base for Union and the calculation of the threshold, zero of your capital would be above the threshold?  Is that not true?

MR. REINISCH:  I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Am I in the ballpark?

MR. REINISCH:  Again, I don't want to speculate, but I disagree with the premise of the assertion that you're making.  The challenge is that -- again, a couple of things.  First of all, the capital pass-through, as rate base decreases, as our average net book value decreases through the current rebasing period and the future rebasing period, we do not have that depreciation expense available to us to reinvest in maintenance capital activities, so those dollars are not in rates.  We are not recovering.

The purpose of the ICM materiality threshold is to calculate how much the utility can spend within their existing rates.  The capital pass-through mechanisms are handled outside of that and they are effectively treated as cost-of-service projects, so there is no mechanism to reinvest that depreciation expense and for the utilities to recover that investment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Well, I'm still going to put on page 21 1.294 billion dollars of capital we don't need to fund under a "get" for you.

So the reason I ask this question is because if you look at page 95 -- and you agree that these numbers are correct, I believe -- the -- what you're proposing is that you're going to collect more in the next 10 years but spend less on capital; isn't that right?  You want a mechanism, an ICM mechanism, that allows you to collect a whole lot more, but you're actually going to spend a whole lot less.  Isn't that right?

MR. REINISCH:  So the capital spending that we've included in our proposal is based off of our asset management plans.  Mr. Reitdyk and Mr. Charleson can elaborate to an extent needed on the specifics of those plans.

At the end of the day, when you look at the dollars that Union Gas and Enbridge have been spending for 2013 through 2017, 2018, there have been a number of very, very significant investments.  There were three expansions of the Union Gas Dawn to Parkway system, again, over a billion dollars in total.  The GTA project, again, a single investment in order to renew the infrastructure in the Greater Toronto area --


MR. SHEPHERD:  You collected for those things.

MR. REINISCH:  We are collecting for those things.  And again, the key there is that the asset management plans upon which our costs are based on are detailed plans that assess the health and the viability of our system, our needs to grow, et cetera, et cetera, and at the end of the day the needs of the future decade are not identical or consistent with the needs of capital investment for the last five years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't there a sanity check that you put to this, though, where you look at it and you say, wait a second, we're ramping down our capital spending over the next 10 years and we're going to collect more money for it?  That can't be right.  Didn't you go through that and say, how can that be?

MR. KITCHEN:  I think as Mr. Reinisch said, the asset management plans for both company underpin the forecast, and what -- we went through an unprecedented level of capital spending over the last five years in building out the Dawn-Parkway system and Enbridge building out -- adding their facilities to the GTA.

That said, that's -- our best forecast right now is the asset management plan.  In terms of, do we do a sanity check, the sanity check is this:  We have an asset management plan that we believe is supportable and well thought out, and we have an ICM available to us to recover the cost of capital, and that's what we're proposing to do, and that's the simple matter of it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your -- my -- obviously I worded my question poorly, because I wasn't concerned about the sanity check for your asset management plan.  That's a whole other issue.  I was concerned with the disjunct between spending less and collecting more, and that doesn't seem like it makes sense, especially since the last five years when you've been collecting less and spending more you've over-earned every year.  So I'm not sure I understand how you're presenting the logic to this Board:  We want to spend less on capital and we want to collect more on capital.  How does the Board reconcile that?

MR. KITCHEN:  What we want to do, Mr. Shepherd, is spend according to our asset management plan and collect eligible projects through the ICM.  Every one of those projects will be reviewed by the Board in a subsequent rate proceeding, so I'm not sure -- I'm not sure what the -- what the disconnect is, to be honest, because I think that there is a Board policy around capital recovery and it will be reviewed by the Board and approved or not approved.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just before I get to my last subject, I want to just ask one thing.  You said on the first day of the hearing -- this is on page 96 of our materials, page 146 of the transcript -- that your current proposal is that if you sell any properties as a result of the amalgamation the shareholder gets to keep the money, right?  That's your proposal.  You don't plan to sell any properties, but if you do you get to keep the money, yes?

MR. KITCHEN:  That would be our proposal, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Am I right that the cost of land and buildings -- the cost, not the value, the cost of the land and buildings owned by the two utilities is in the order of 700 million dollars?  Am I in the ballpark?

MR. CULBERT:  We would have to check, Mr. Shepherd.  I'm not sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just went back to your annual reports for last year and saw what the numbers were.

MR. CULBERT:  We would have to look at the utility-related amounts, but subject to check, could be that.  Could be 500.  I'm not sure.  I would have to look at the numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you have any idea what the value of the land and buildings that the companies own have -- are they -- presumably during the course of the merger somebody sat down and said, well, what's the value of all this land and buildings.  You did, right?

MR. REITDYK:  I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No?  Nobody knows?

MR. REITDYK:  That's not something we've looked at.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?

MR. REITDYK:  That's not something we've looked at.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.

So my last area is the last part of this equation, which is the merger costs and savings, and so on page 21 of my materials I've already put in the 150 million for merger integration investments for account of shareholders.  That's a cost that you have that you're not going to recover from ratepayers, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's a cost that you would -- you don't have in the stand-alone proposal, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's true, isn't it, and you'll see this on page 10 of our materials, your J2.4, it's true, isn't it, that the most you're actually out-of-pocket of that 150 is 8 million, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Sorry, can you repeat that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of your 150 investment the most you're out-of-pocket is 8 million?  You invest, you get savings, the net cost, the most you're out-of-pocket, 8 million in 2019?  In 2020 it's 6 million and there's positive every other year.  Now, you still have to take some of that money to cover your 410 million to get to ROE.  I get that.  But the actual investment and savings, you're out-of-pocket maximum 8 million, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so the savings are 680 million, we've agreed on that, and I've put that under merger integration savings on page 21, but it's true that 

-- and you'll see this at page 101 -- you've admitted that that doesn't include any savings on the capital side, right, only operating cost savings?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's also true -- and you'll see this at page 104 of our materials -- that it doesn't include any savings for field operations, one of your biggest areas, right?  And there will be some for that.  You've admitted that, right?

MR. REITDYK:  We've talked about that, but those savings would occur in years 5 to 10 and would be relatively modest.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we don't have a number for them.

MR. REITDYK:  We've assumed that it's very small.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you haven't done any planning.

MR. REITDYK:  We have not done any specific planning, but again, the nature of the work in the field doesn't change.  We've talked about that before.  You're not going to turn a wrench faster, you're not going to dig a hole any faster, just because you merge the two organizations.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All I'm saying is you've assumed it's zero, right?

MR. REITDYK:  For the purpose of this analysis; that's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So for those things, the capital savings, the field ops, everything else that you haven't included in your savings, is it reasonable to assume that there's maybe another couple hundred million of savings available once you're finished?  Am I in the right ballpark?

MR. REITDYK:  No, our plan we've identified here is a moderate to aggressive plan as it is, and that's what we presented.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you've admitted that capital savings are not going to be zero and field operations savings are not going to be zero, but you've assumed zero, so there has got to be something.  I'm just saying is it bigger than a bread box?

MR. REINISCH:  One note on your capital savings, so in the current forecast we're above the ICM threshold for each year during the 10-year deferred rebasing period.  Any capital synergies that can be identified and executed on would, all else being equal, reduce the amount of ICM-eligible capital as per the Board's formula.  Therefore, that would reduce both.  It would reduce the revenues associated with that, and those savings would be passed on to customers.

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Shepherd, just to respond to your question, we don't have a forecast of what might be available from field operations or from capital.  What we do know is that within our own forecast we have unidentified synergies that we do have to achieve and we also have 20 basis points, and with those we're earning 20 basis points above allowed, which as Mr. Reinisch pointed out equates to about .09 stretch factor.

But we don't have that -- we don't have that, and right now our best forecast of what we have is 150 million dollars in capital to get 680 million in savings, and that's what we modelled.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  My last question is -- I hear a sigh of relief.

MR. KITCHEN:  Not from me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, from spectators.  I know you're having fun.

The stand-alone model, the straw man, has zero savings, and you've agreed that there actually will be some savings in the -- that scenario, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  To the extent that there is some sharing of services, yes, there could be some savings.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And we know that it's at least 52 million dollars, because you've got that much already, but we don't know how much more of that it's going to be, right?
MR. KITCHEN:  We have not modelled any further savings.
MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  We will take an hour lunch break at this point.  It would be helpful to the Panel if we had revised estimates, so if you can provide those to Mr. Viraney he can scribble it into my hearing plan so we know what we're looking at, and if you can do that over the lunch break that would be appreciated.  Thank you.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:32 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:35 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, parties, for your updated times.  So based on this revised schedule, we should be completing today, and potentially even before the afternoon break, all going well.  We'll talk about arguments, the timing for that, at the end of the hearing.  Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  I will be briefer, as I outlined to Mr. Viraney, with thanks to SEC and the work that they have done.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


I just want to follow up one matter that came out in discussions right near the end of SEC's cross this morning.  Mr. Reitdyk, you were talking about the productivity that has been, for lack of a better word, tapped out from the respective utilities over the course of the recent IRM periods, and I think your view was that those opportunities are now gone, correct?

MR. REITDYK:  What I specifically said is you can always get better, but certainly the large portions of productivities have been achieved over the years.

MR. QUINN:  I think the word you used was "centralizations."  Some of the centralizations of the centres of excellence, those things have been done.

MR. REITDYK:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  But would you agree with me that in an amalgamated company, you would now reopen those opportunities for productivity, not unlike these recent IRM periods?  


MR. REITDYK:  Yes, of course, and that's in fact what we've outlined in our evidence and our proposal, is a lot of the cost savings that we've proposed as part of the new Amalco is now integrating Union's and Enbridge Gas Distribution's operations, customer care systems, processes, which will allow further centralization optimization that wouldn't be possible without amalgamation.

MR. QUINN:  Some of those savings would be borne out in the years 5 to 10?

MR. REITDYK:  I think they're laid out as we proposed in our proposal.  There's a moderate to aggressive scenario, and there's a low to moderate scenario.  So there's a full rage of timelines and costs that have been outlined in our proposal.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Ms. Girvan.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Just a couple clarification questions.  Could you turn to J1.4, please.  And this is an exhibit that sets out the bill impacts, rate impacts, bill impacts for an average residential consumer.  So my first question is, so this is, say, average between 2.2 and 2.8 percent?  That's your expectation during the course of the plan, is that correct?  Second page actually.  J1.4, yeah.  If you turn to the second page.  Well, I have it as attachment 1.  J1.4, attachment 1.

MR. KITCHEN:  I think there is only one attachment.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  But it doesn't seem to be up on the screen.  Anyway --


MR. KITCHEN:  We have it here.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Yes, it sets out the bill impacts, rate impacts, which you're saying over the course of the plan for residential consumers in both service territories average about 2.3, 2.4 percent.  That's correct, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  That's your expectation?

MR. KITCHEN:  Based on the assumptions that we've made in the framework, yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And then you also have assumed that your ROE over the term of the plan is going to be 20 basis points above the allowed ROE?

MR. KITCHEN:  Our forecast has our allowed ROE at 20 basis points above the ROE.  That's assuming 150 million in capital investment and 680 million dollars in synergy savings.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  That's right now the expected outcome of your plan?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thanks for that.  Now, I just had another question for you, Mr. Kitchen.  Oh, sorry.  Back to that.  So to the extent that you've got these average rate increases, what from your perspective could impact those numbers going forward in the plan?  As a residential rate representative, I'm concerned about what are the sort of -- what could potentially happen that could impact those numbers so those rate increases are not as you've projected.


MR. KITCHEN:  Well, you know, I think the things that we've included.  For instance, if inflation was higher than 1.73 percent or lower, it would impact those rates.  To the extent that we have ICM projects that are approved or not approved, that would impact the rates.  The rate impacts.  If there was a Z factor brought forward for any reason, that would have an impact on rates.  But those are the major ones.

MS. GIRVAN:  And then potentially Y factors as well?

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, Y factors, I haven't included Y factors, but yes, those are pass-throughs and they could impact rates as well going forward.

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  You were talking to Mr. Shepherd earlier today about 2019 rates, and what's not clear to me in the context of this application, what relief you're seeking with respect to setting '19 rates.  We've talked about the rate plan at, as I would say it, a relatively high level, but you said with respect to '19, going forward you haven't figured exactly how you're going to calculate the rates, is that correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  I don't think -- I'm sorry if it was interpreted that way.  What we're asking for is approval of a rate mechanism that would involve the inflation factor, zero X factor, certain pass-through items, et cetera.   When it actually comes to proposing the rates for '19, we will do that subsequent to this proceeding, putting in the actual inflation factor from StatsCan.  We've assumed 1.73, but there will be something different coming from StatsCan that we will use.  That would go in.  Plus any ICM requests, specific requests, would be in there.

The only thing that, like I said, we haven't really decided yet is how we will treat some things like the monthly fixed charge for general service customers.  So what we did in doing the rate calculations is that we took Union's current approach, which is to not inflate the monthly customer charge, and roll any revenue increases that are associated with that through the volumetric box.  We haven't sat down and decided whether that is something we're going to do going forward.  But that would all be reviewed as part of the next rate proceeding.


MS. GIRVAN:  Potentially with respect to, say, residential consumers, you may be proposing to increase the fixed charge?

MR. KITCHEN:  By inflation.  But I'm not suggesting that we are or are not.  We have not had the discussion.

MS. GIRVAN:  What exactly -- you're saying that that's for another panel; that's not part of the relief you're seeking with respect to this rate plan?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Yauch.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Yauch:


MR. YAUCH:  Good afternoon, panel.  If we could bring up Board Staff J2.4, page 2, please.  We've gone over these numbers fairly extensively, but I just want to make sure before we go to argument that we're on the same page.  According to your application, ratepayers will benefit 410 million dollars.  You'll spend 150 million in merger savings.  That will produce savings of 680 million -- 150 million in costs and then 680 in savings over the life of 10 years.  At the end of it, if everything goes according to plan as you've presented it, ratepayers benefit 410 million and you benefit to the tune of 530.  So ultimately the utilities benefit 120 million dollars more than ratepayers; or am I not reading that correctly?

MR. REINISCH:  I believe you've read that incorrectly or you're derived that incorrectly.  So there will be -- effectively, the alternative for amalgamation is the custom IR.  So based on the difference between the revenue requirement on the custom IRs and the proposal that we're putting forward here, customers will see lower revenue requirement of 410 million, so 410 million of costs, customers, will be lower under the proposal rather than the alternative.

Included in that is a benefit to the shareholder of 120 million.  So ratepayers are benefiting the 410 million, shareholders are benefiting 120 million of a forecasted ROE, and the remainder is going to pay for the investments required to achieve those savings.

MR. YAUCH:  The savings are actually 530 million, I mean, right?  Those are the savings that -- you're including the costs of a certain amount, but your savings will actually be less than that, of 530 million, right?  Isn't that the benefit to you?  Why is that not considered a benefit?  Because I know costs of 150 million -- sorry, I'm going to let you finish -- it cost 150 million to get it, but then you do get those savings.

MR. REINISCH:  I think it's important to note that the 410 million in lower costs go to both the ratepayer and to the shareholder.  We see our cost structure lower in order to pass along that 410 million of savings.  The customer benefits to the tune of 410 million.

So the shareholder -- the utilities themselves do not directly benefit from that 410 million.  That's lower revenue that's not part of the system as a result of the proposed --


MR. YAUCH:  They do benefit from the 530 million.  That's revenue you've collected, then you get to keep, correct, because you've made an investment of 150 million and you get to keep the 530 in savings that you've generated.

MR. REINISCH:  So those revenues are required in order to achieve our forecasted allowed ROE.

MR. YAUCH:  They go above it, right?  You need to collect the 410 to hit your ROE. and this goes 120 million above that.  So there is an extra 120 million extra that utilities get that ratepayers don't get.

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.  There's 20 basis points above allowed ROE.  That is the 120 million dollars.

MR. YAUCH:  Okay.  So my proposition to you -- and I just want your opinion on it and then that will be my last question.  So one option that we've seen in the U.S. when we looked at a lot of utilities and mergers in our evidence is that they often charge ratepayers the cost, their achieved savings.  For example -- so in this case it would be 150 million you charge ratepayers, but the ratepayers keep all the benefit.

So if you did it like that you get the 410 benefit to ratepayers as you're proposing and you subtract 150 and you get down to 260, but then ratepayers keep the whole 530 of all the benefits and the utility keeps anything over that.

Did you consider a situation like that, considering it's very common in merger applications in the United States, as opposed to the way you have proposed the application?

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Yauch, I have a bit of trouble following the number trail there, but I'll take your word for what you were talking about in a way.  But I want to say first of all we're not in the United States and what we looked at was the MAADs policy, and that's what we're guiding ourselves by and that's what we proposed, so, no, we did not look at it.

MR. YAUCH:  You didn't look at a situation which ratepayers pay for the savings cost but they keep all the benefits of it.

MR. KITCHEN:  What we looked at was the MAADs policy, and we're applying that, and as Mr. Reinisch said, as a result of the investment of 150 million and the estimated 680 million dollars in savings we earned 20 basis points above allowed.

MR. YAUCH:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Richler.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Richler:

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, witnesses.  Maybe we can leave this chart on the screen, because I have a few questions on it as well.

So as I understand it, just taking a step back, when I first put Staff's version of the chart to you the idea was meant as a sort of heuristic to show when the total -- at what point in time the total savings to the applicants will exceed the total investment, and you told me that our chart was an oversimplification and you came back with this.  And so I gather the main -- well, the only difference between your chart and our chart is that your yellow line adds the 410 million dollars that we've heard so much about.  So the yellow line, it represents the capital investment shown in the blue line plus the 410 million dollars; is that right?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. RICHLER:  And we spent a good part of this morning trying to unpack that 410 million dollars, and I don't want to pursue that any further.  I guess I'm still just struggling conceptually with why this 410 million dollars belongs in this chart.  As you've explained today, the 410 million dollars represents the difference in revenue requirement between this counter-factual scenario, the stand-alone scenario, and the actual Amalco proposal, but the 410 million dollars is not, as I understand it, a cost; is that right?

MR. REINISCH:  So the 410 million dollars is the difference in cost between the -- what would be required under the stand-alone basis to achieve our allowed ROE and what we would have as far as revenue with respect to the amalgamation.  So said another way, in order to assess, I'll say, a break-even point for the utility, we require that 410 million for the utility to get back to its allowed ROE, that by ignoring that 410 million, all else being equal, without the savings, without the integration, the utilities would be underearning their allowed ROE by a cumulative 410 million dollars over the 10-year period.

MR. RICHLER:  So the yellow line combines or conflates two different notions.  One is the actual capital outlay, and then again, this 410 million is something else.  It's not a cost per se.

MR. REINISCH:  It's the revenue required by the utilities in order to earn their forecasted allowed ROE.  So it is effectively a cost number.

MR. RICHLER:  I guess when you told me back on day 2 that our chart was an oversimplification, what I thought you might come back with when you agreed to provide your own version of our chart was something showing the return on your capital investment of 150 million dollars plus what you've described elsewhere as the drag due to funded synergy capital, which I understood to include the depreciation expense on that investment and the interest expense associated with that capital investment.  Maybe I misunderstood, but why didn't you -- why didn't you look at it that way, add in those costs which were not reflected in our table?

MR. REINISCH:  So when we look over the 10-year period, those costs roughly equal 100 -- I believe 151 million dollars, so the costs during the 10-year period are roughly the same whether you look at it from a drag due to earnings or from just a 150 million dollar cash investment throughout the first four or five years of the period.

With respect to how we've presented this and how we've prepared this, is the chart -- our interpretation was that it was showing a break-even point.  We did not agree that the appropriate break-even point was the intersection between the synergy line and the integration-related capital cost to achieve line, because it excluded the revenue that's required in order for the utilities to earn a forecasted allowed ROE.

So to be able to provide information for the assistance of the Board we have provided that addition, and that's what you see in the yellow line.  We have summed up the capital related to the integration along with the revenue required to achieve allowed ROE to provide a crossover point, and then to the right of that crossover point where the green and gold lines diverge, that effectively makes up the 120 million of earnings above allowed ROE, and that's on average.

MR. RICHLER:  And again, I understand what you've done.  I'm just trying to get a better grasp of why you didn't do it in the alternative way I've just suggested, which would include the 151 million dollars you said, and again, I may be misunderstanding something, but I'm just trying to wrestle with the concepts here.

Why would it be wrong to add that drag plus return on investment to show your true costs over the proposed 10-year deferral period?

MR. REINISCH:  So the true costs are included in the yellow line.  That is a summation of all of our costs as a utility during that period.  So that was the line that we added, because it sums all of the costs and provides what we view as a fairly clear picture of our overall costs with respect to this matter.

MR. RICHLER:  Now, just to make sure I understand the 151 million dollar you referred to, could I ask you please to turn quickly to FRPO.1, attachment 1, page 23.  This is from the presentation to the boards of directors.  And we've seen this -- we've seen this -- or this table has come up in this hearing before.  Again, just to make sure I've got the numbers right, if we look in the middle of the table, there is a line called "Drag due to funded synergy capital."  That adds up to 133 million dollars.  And I take it the difference between the 133 and 151 is the return on the invested capital, is that right?

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  And just sticking with this table.  Again, this is what you showed to your boards of directors.  The 410 million doesn't show up here expressly.  Is it somehow implied in this table?  Because of course at the bottom of the page it shows your forecasted earnings and the amount you expect to exceed your allowed ROE.  Is this 410 million implied in here?

MR. REINISCH:  Yes, it would be included in here.  Again, the makeup of the utility earnings with synergies, that line there, if you were to I guess take that line and you were to compare that to the custom IR scenario, we would -- looking at it from a revenue requirement rather than a utility earnings perspective, you would get back to the 410.  And again, the 410 is a revenue requirement number, so it's pre-tax.

MR. RICHLER:  All right.  And let me just ask you to flip back to your chart that was up a moment ago, J2.4.  And just to follow up on something that Mr. Yauch was asking you.  Just a moment ago I think I heard you say that the yellow line here implicitly includes 120 million dollars that will go to the utilities, which will allow them to over-earn by an average of 20 basis points per year, is that right?

MR. REINISCH:  It's the delta between the green line and the yellow line, from around 20, 25 and a half onwards.  That would represent the 120 million dollars of excess utility earnings above our forecasted allowed.  That's where the savings are providing sufficient cash flow, not only to cover the cost of the initial investment, to cover the revenue required to get the utility back to allowed ROE, it provides an amount in excess of that to the tune of approximately 20 basis points.

MR. RICHLER:  I guess why is that extra 20 basis points built into this table at all?  Why is there that cushion?  If the flaw in Staff's original chart was that it didn't allow you to earn your allowed ROE, why are we including that 120 million dollars in this?

MR. REINISCH:  The reason, again, for including it is to be fulsome in providing the entire response.  The green line represents the synergies. These are the O&M synergies, the 680 million.  As you can see, it crosses the far axis on the right at 680 million.  So as you can see, throughout the years, we are effectively paying back the investment plus what's required to achieve allowed ROE.  The crossover point, which again was -- that was the basis of the discussion -- the crossover point is sometime in 2025, after which point the utility then -- the synergies that are being realized are exceeding what is required for the utility to earn a regulated forecasted ROE.

MR. RICHLER:  Although you will exceed your allowed ROE before this break-even point -- I don't mean to keep flipping back and forth between tables, but in that presentation to your boards, in FRPO.11 we see that as early as year 2, you're exceeding allowed ROE by the 20 basis points.

So again, I'm just trying to clarify concepts.  It's not that it takes that long for you to be in a position to over-earn; you will be over-earning as early as year 2, and in fact you'll never be underearning?

MR. REINISCH:  Again, two different concepts.  One is a cash flow break-even type concept, which strictly takes cash flows and determines a break-even point, whereas the presentation that we provided to the Board, along with FRPO.11 and the rest of the analysis that we've done, is based on the results for each given year and the ROE that comes out of the revenues that we'll be collecting from customers less the costs that we will be incurring.  So two different analysis.

MR. RICHLER:  I only have a couple minutes left, and there were two more quick follow-up questions that I wanted to put to this panel.  So first could I ask you to turn to undertaking response J3.6, please.  And this was a response provided by the storage and transportation panel, but my follow-up question is pretty general, so I'm hoping that maybe this panel will be able to respond.

So it looks like over the last four years -- this is looking at Union's regulated revenues coming from storage and transportation.  Over the last 4 years, transportation revenue has steadily increased both in total dollar terms, that's line 2, and as a proportion of Union's total utility revenue, that's line 3.  So my follow-up question is simply do you expect those trends to continue over the proposed 10-year deferred rebasing period?

MR. KITCHEN:  I think you should probably wait for Mr. Redford on the next panel.

MR. RICHLER:  Well, if the panel would allow, then I'll leave that question hanging.

MR. KITCHEN:  I can answer the question, but he may have to correct me later.

MR. RICHLER:  Fair enough.  So if I could just take 30 seconds of the next panel's time.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Finally, there was a brief discussion this morning with Mr. Shepherd about the number of new customer attachments, and perhaps just for reference we can pull up SEC's compendium from this morning.  K6.1, page 82.  And at the very bottom there's a reference to customer attachments per year, and there's a reference to roughly 50,000 customers combined for Amalco, about 30,000 for Enbridge, and 20,000 for Union Gas.  My follow-up question is simply is that -- do you expect that trend to continue during the proposed 10-year deferred rebasing period?  Is it going to be 30 plus 20 in each year, or how do you anticipate that will play out?

MR. REINISCH:  In the response to FRPO.11, we've included the absolute numbers for each utility, so in the table FRPO.11 we do have the absolute numbers, and you will notice in that that there is a slight decrease in customer attachments as we go through the 10-year deferred rebasing period, specifically in the Enbridge area.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you witnesses.  Thank you, Madam Chair. Those are all my questions.
Questions by the Board:


MS. ANDERSON:  I just have one question.  You can refer it to the next panel if you wish.  There was a discussion this morning about bill impacts and the treatment of Y factors, and I just wanted to confirm that in doing the bill impacts is it the assumption that all Y factors are neutral to the bill impact in what you did?  You said this morning you weren't forecasting cap-and-trade costs or things of that -- is that true of all Y factors?  And as I said, you can refer to --


MR. KITCHEN:  I think we should wait for the next panel.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  That's fine.

Mr. Cass, any re-examination?
Re-Examination by Mr. Cass:

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Panel, I would like to briefly come back to Mr. Shepherd's gives and gets summary.  I know I made the comment that this is something that can be addressed in argument, and I'm certainly not looking for you to get into any argument.  However, he presented this as a means, in his words, to unpack the ratepayer benefit that the applicants have put forward in their case.

Do you agree that this is an appropriate way to unpack the ratepayer benefit, so to speak?  And please explain your answer if you can.  Thank you.

MR. KITCHEN:  I do not think it's the best way to unpack the ratepayer benefit.  The reason I think that is that -- it goes back to the no-harm test and the fact that when we did our forecast of the stand-alone for the deferred rebasing period we did our best to provide a reasonable estimate of all the revenues and the costs that would occur over the 10-year period -- 10-year deferred rebasing period for stand-alone entities.  We then compared that to a revenue requirement calculated essentially using -- we used a price-cap mechanism, and that's how we came up with the 410 million dollars.

So our 410 million dollars that we've talked about ad nauseam for six days is inclusive of everything.  So we didn't actually try to isolate ratepayer benefit, shareholder benefit, et cetera.  It was looking at the total based on a forecast of what we thought we would happen under stand-alone versus what would happen under price cap.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Kitchen.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  I think we'll take five just to let the new panel get in place, and I guess we don't call it -- is it panel 2 hybrid?

MR. CASS:  Two-thirds.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 2:09 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:16 p.m.
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MS. ANDERSON:  We have the new panel, and I believe everyone on it has already been affirmed.  Yes, sorry, Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  I was just going to say, Madam Chair, Mr. Redford has a correction to make to the response to undertaking J3.3 before the questions get started.  I'm not sure if I interrupted you in the middle of something else.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please do.  That's fine.  Carry on.

MR. REDFORD:  This had to do with J3.3, and in the second table, it's a peak winter day.  Under the year 2015-2016, the first entry under Union Gas system supply is 206 TJs a day.  It actually should be 229 TJs a day.  And then that just has impact on one other entry three columns over, which is Union Gas Dawn Storage, which currently says 1767 TJs per day, and that should be 1744 TJs per day.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Quinn, just before we move to you, perhaps we can finish off with Mr. Richler and his 30 seconds.  I'll give you two minutes.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  So again this relates to J3.6, and the question in short was whether the trends we see in lines 2 and 3 over the last four years are expected to continue over the proposed 10-year deferred rebasing period?

MR. REDFORD:  I don't expect that trend to continue.  The increases, really, over those three years were a result of the Dawn-Parkway expansion that happened between 2015 and 2017.  We added about 1.3 PJs of capacity -- 1.3 PJs a day of capacity to the system.  I don't see growth in the future of that magnitude coming.  I think that would be unforeseen if that were to happen.

MR. RICHLER:  Thank you.  Just to clarify, some growth but at a slower rate or?

MR. REDFORD:  Yeah, it's possible there could be some growth, but it would be, I'll say, intermittent and it would be much, much smaller.

MR. RICHLER:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Mr. Quinn.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, panel.  I wanted to try to keep things efficient, so I did put in our third compendium and submitted through the Board Secretary and gave -- provided copies to Board Staff, which I believe the Panel has, and witness panels have also.  Thank you.  I slid it to Mr. Kerrigan beside me and I asked him not to read to the back of the book and figure out how it comes out.  Sorry?  Oh,  sorry, exhibit number.  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. RICHLER:  Mr. Richler.  K6.2.

MR. QUINN:  Sorry.  Mr. Shepherd was giving me a cue that I had missed.  Thank you.  In passing to Mr. Kerrigan, I had said not to go to the back of the book and figure out how this comes out. So if I could ask everybody to turn to page 13, I think we'll start there.  Some of the Union folks on the panel would remember discussions we had throughout the IRM period as we met to discuss some of the Dawn-Parkway expansions, and this comes from the original 

-- the first Dawn-Parkway expansion, EB-2014-0261.  And looking at the Union witnesses, do you remember that CME, FRPO and OGVG submitted evidence about concerns about who is managing the risk on Dawn-Parkway overbuild post 2018?  Do you remember that?

MR. KITCHEN:  I do.

MR. QUINN:  So what we've captured in here is a settlement proposal that reads:
"The parties do not agree on the risk of Dawn-Parkway capacity turn-back post 2018.  For the purposes of settlement, the parties agree that the leave to construct should be granted.  There is no agreement of how turn-back risk should be dealt with in the context of the proposed facilities.  The parties agree that this issue will be dealt with in Union's next cost of service proceeding."  

So we're here today and obviously we're discussing a deferred rebasing period which would certainly extend out the period for which we could discuss this matter.  And we had asked in this interrogatory about what barriers would have to look at this issue at this juncture, and the response from the applicants is essentially saying:

"Addressing Dawn-Parkway turn-back is not necessary at this time, as it is not an issue.  In the event that there is Dawn-Parkway turn-back during the rebasing period that's material, Amalco may consider addressing the issue earlier than rebasing."


If I'm reading that answer, am I correct in saying the onus is on the applicant to identify if there are any concerns with Dawn-Parkway turn-back?

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Redford can jump in if he thinks my answer needs to be augmented, but essentially we don't see turn-back as something that is unmanageable at this point, and to the extent that it becomes an issue, we may bring something forward during the deferred rebasing period, but at this point we don't see anything.

MR. QUINN:  At this point who is at risk for all of the capacity on the Dawn-Parkway system?

MR. KITCHEN:  Maybe I'm just overthinking your question, but currently we're at risk for it.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I want to walk through that, and that's why I started out with that preamble, Mr. Kitchen.  I think the best place to start as we go through this is, is in our compendium on page 2 and 3, we had noted that there was an update to J2.5 in the undertakings that were delivered to the Board on May 23rd, and on page -- just for reference, I did provide on pages 4 and 5 of the compendium the original version of this undertaking, so at Exhibit J2.5 of May 11th.  So fast forwarding to the May 23rd, there's been an update to this undertaking, and specifically I see line 1 on attachment 2 being the primary update.  Was there any other update to this undertaking?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That was the only update, and then the subsequent roll-out of the revenue impact of that.

MR. QUINN:  When you're saying that, you're talking about what is calculated in lines 5, 6 and 7 at the bottom?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So first let's start with what was the source of this revision?

MS. MIKHAILA:  The Dawn to Kirkwall turn-back that we had had originally identified as being used for permanent capacity for the PDO shift was noticed to be not the correct amount.  The wrong contracts we had identified as the turn-back was used, and we subsequently identified the correct contract that was used for the permanent capacity.

MR. QUINN:  But what you've done is reduced -- as an example, in winter '15 and '16 in line 1 of the original update it was 190 TJs per day and now it's gone to 139 TJs per day.  However, the amount of PDO that is being facilitated by that on line 9 of attachment 1 has not changed.

How do you reduce the amount of contracts that are contributing to the PDO without changing the permanent capacity that has essentially by your undertaking been set aside for the purposes of PDO turnback -- or, sorry, PDO delivery?

MS. MIKHAILA:  We didn't reduce the number of the contracts that were used for turnback to facilitate the PDO.  It was the contracts that were originally identified as facilitating the PDO shift was incorrect, which resulted in a different Dawn to Parkway equivalency difference.  We -- the permanent capacity that was created, 123, in the winter of '15/'16, was the Dawn to Parkway capacity that was created from the turnback.  It was just the Dawn to Kirkwall contracts that allowed that Dawn to Parkway capacity that we didn't identify correctly the first time.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I guess my concern here -- and we don't have anything on record.  I don't think Mr. Redford in this proceeding, maybe in the previous proceedings -- but that would suggest that 139 TJs of capacity, of Dawn-Kirkwall capacity, translates to 123 TJs of Dawn to Parkway capacity, which in my simple math would be over 80 percent.  Is that correct, in terms of the equivalency factor?

MR. REDFORD:  Yes, at that time 139 TJs a day of Dawn-Kirkwall was equivalent to 123 TJs of Dawn-Parkway.

MR. QUINN:  Is there anywhere in the record that we've talked about equivalency in this proceeding that you can turn -- or give us a reference to?  I know we don't take undertakings, but do you know if it's on the record?

MR. REDFORD:  Through the amalgamation hearing?  I don't know that we've had -- I'm not sure that it's been on the record.

MR. KITCHEN:  It is not on the record, because it's not part of the amalgamation, but it is part of the PDO, and that is the equivalency factor for that year.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, we'll double-check old records, but thank you for your answer.

So if we again look at attachment 1 -- and we didn't get the clarity.  I reviewed the transcript from the May 14th discussion we had, and I want to walk through this to make sure that we have clarity on the record.  In column B, line 5 there's a total forecasted Parkway capacity of 6801.  And I think that part is clear on the record.  That 6801 for the purposes of making rates is -- the Board has allowed Union to recover all of that capacity even though there is 158 TJs of surplus; is that correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  As our rates were set on the 2013 forecast in column A, at that time when rates were set there was 6803 TJs a day and excess capacity of 210 that rates are based on.

MR. QUINN:  So then in line 8 there is 146 TJs capacity, which is the temporary available capacity that's being used for PDO.  That then would be -- and is calculated at the bottom.  That cost again then was added to rates, correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, 146 TJs a day was included in rates as part of the PDO settlement framework.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

And then further down in line 11, 19 units of capacity -- of M12 capacity that was facilitated in the PDO, that too was added to rates?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, the 146 plus the 19 was included in rates as part of the demand costs on line 15.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

So what we have, subject to check, would you accept that there's 6,966 TJs of capacity in rates for January 1st, 2015?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sorry, what numbers did you --


MR. QUINN:  I'm adding line 5, line 8, and line 11.

MS. MIKHAILA:  No, the capacity in rates, I don't think you can add those numbers together.  The capacity is the amount from 2013.

MR. QUINN:  Which is 6,803.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Right.  The 146 and the 19 are part of the 6,803, the capacity.  It was excess capacity at 2013 and it was used to facilitate a PDO shift on a temporary basis.  You can't add those two numbers together.

MR. QUINN:  So is -- using the 146 and 19 for 165, is that also included in the Parkway demands of 6,643 in line 6?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sorry, you're losing me on the numbers.

MR. QUINN:  If you look at line 6 there's 6,643 of Dawn-Parkway demands.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  Is the 165 included in that also?

MS. MIKHAILA:  No, it's not.  The 158 TJs a day of excess capacity on line 7 was used to facilitate the 146 TJs a day of temporarily available capacity.  The extra 19 TJs a day, I'm told customers turned that back, and then it was used to facilitate, so it was a replacement capacity.

MR. QUINN:  But for the purpose of calculating rates, prior to the PDO you were getting recovery of 6,803?

MS. MIKHAILA:  We were getting recovery of the full cost of the Dawn to Parkway system, but we were recovering it over the demands on line 6, the 6,593.  There was 210 TJs a day of excess capacity that the Board acknowledged in its 2013 decision and accepted that excess capacity in Union's forecast -- they accepted the forecast, including the excess capacity and the regulatory treatment for it, which --


MR. QUINN:  You've then confirmed that the 165 in the next year is not part of 6,643.  So rates would have been made on the basis of 6,643?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Well, rates would have been made on the basis of 2013, which was 6,593 in column A.

MR. KITCHEN:  Rates for '14 to '15 were set based on a price cap.

MR. QUINN:  So 6,593 plus 165 for the PDO shift?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, we recovered the Dawn to Parkway costs associated with the 165, in addition to the costs that were recovered through rates, and I think we talked about that at the last --


MR. QUINN:  Well, I've gone over the record, and I just -- so I should let you finish, but I -- it wasn't clear to me -- it is now crystal-clear, so I can move on.  Thank you.

So if I just move down, though, on that same column to line 19, it says "demand revenue from temporary available capacity".

Now, the number is 4,563, which represents, as I understand it, the 165 times the Dawn to Parkway capacity cost at that time; is that correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  It's not the 165.  It's the 146 of temporarily available capacity times the Dawn-Parkway rate.  The additional 19 was permanent capacity from customers turning back M12 contracts, and that revenue is shown on line 18, the 580.

MR. QUINN:  But that -- so you're saying the 580 was Dawn-Kirkwall -- sorry, Dawn to Kirkwall?

MS. MIKHAILA:  The 580 was Dawn to Parkway turnback.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That line says "foregone demand of M12 Dawn to Kirkwall turnback used for PDO" --


MS. MIKHAILA:  Sorry, it should say Dawn to Parkway.

MR. QUINN:  The difference between line 18 and 19 is the word "foregone."  Is it your view that the 4563 is foregone revenue for the purposes of recovering the temporary available capacity?

MS. MIKHAILA:  It was revenue earned on the excess capacity of the system, so the term "foregone" in line 18 is because M12 Dawn to Parkway customers turned back their contracts.  And they also turned back their deliveries at Parkway to Dawn.  When they turned back their M12 contracts, we no longer had that revenue, because the contracts were turned back.  That was replaced with permanent capacity for their shift from Kirkwall to Dawn.  

Line 19 was using excess capacity to facilitate the shift on a temporary basis until the permanent capacity was available through Dawn to Kirkwall turn-backs, contracts.

MR. QUINN:  Would you agree with me that foregone would -- the premise of foregone is that there would have been opportunity to have sold it as M12 capacity?

MS. MIKHAILA:  We were selling it as M12 capacity to the same customers who turned their deliveries from Parkway to Dawn.  That was part of the agreement.

MR. QUINN:  But in that year, you have 158 TJs per day of excess capacity that had been offered for sale and had not been taken up by the market, correct?

MR. REDFORD:  In the winter of 2014-2015, that 158 was taken up by, I'll say, the market, which was the folks that were at Parkway.  So in other words, it's the temporary shift back.  It allowed 146 of Dawn -- of Parkway deliveries to temporarily go back to Dawn.  And sorry, Mr. Quinn, and it was sold for winter '15-'16 because that was included as part of our 2015-2016 build.

MR. QUINN:  My question is different from that, Mr. Redford.  The 158 was temporarily available because you had not sold it previously, correct?  For that winter?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.  So it was used to facilitate a temporary shift.

MR. QUINN:  It had been offered to the market.  In fact, 210 TJs in the previous winter were not taken up by the market, correct?

MR. REDFORD:  That's fair.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Now, this detail escaped me to this point, but it is fundamental to our concerns here.  Mr. Redford, can you confirm that Union moved the system gas volumes that had previously been delivered at Parkway back to Dawn, a considerable amount, around 100 TJs in the last couple years?

MR. REDFORD:  Directionally, yes, we've moved some of our system supply from Parkway back to Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  How did you do that?

MR. REDFORD:  Over that period, it would have been included. So in the '15-'16 build, we had asked for and secured capacity for in-franchise customers.

MR. QUINN:  So as part of the new build, you had allocated capacity to system gas customers; stopping there, is that correct?

MR. REDFORD:  Some of that would have been -- some of that would have been for Union North, for instance, customers.

MR. QUINN:  Just to be specific, that's how you got system gas customers back to Dawn, is you included their needs in the build?

MR. REDFORD:  No, not specifically.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I think that's what you just said.  Can you say it again so that I can understand it.

MR. REDFORD:  So we would have been able to move some of that gas back to Dawn, and that would have been done through even prior to the '14-'15 period.

MR. QUINN:  But there has been a recent -- I'm talking about in the last couple years.  And I can pull up a reference for you somewhere, but it's in the record.  It's around 98 TJs, was my recollection.

MR. REDFORD:  Yeah, it's my recollection.  I would have to look at the --


MR. QUINN:  These are Union South customers who previously were obligated at Parkway.  They were moved back to Dawn, and I'm asking how that was done.  With facilities?  Or how were you accomplishing that?

MR. KITCHEN:  First, before Mr. Redford answers that, the movement of system gas from Parkway to Dawn was contemplated as part of the PDO settlement.  And, in fact, the other part of the PDO settlement was that the remaining demands of system customers at Dawn at Parkway would receive the credit that is associated with going -- with being at Parkway.  This was all contemplated as part of the build.

MR. QUINN:  I understand that.  Well, as part of the PDO settlement agreement?

MR. KITCHEN:  It was contemplated as part of the PDO settlement.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Sorry, I was just trying to make sure that that was correct on the record.  Nonetheless, my question still stands.  It was contemplated, but how was it accomplished, from a facilities point of view?

MR. REDFORD:  I think it's a combination of build and Dawn-Parkway turn-back.

MR. QUINN:  System gas customers get the benefit of the build and the Dawn-Parkway turn-back, where direct purchase customers are limited to the Dawn-Kirkwall turn-back?  Is that your summation of your answer?

MR. REDFORD:  I think you're reading more into my answer.  My answer was is that I think the obligation came back to Dawn through build and through turn-back, through Dawn-Parkway turn-back.

MR. QUINN:  That was limited to system gas?

MR. REDFORD:  Yeah, it was.

MR. KITCHEN:  As the agreement states, we were going to use Dawn-Kirkwall turn-back to facilitate the PDO for direct purchase.

MR. QUINN:  But the limitation is to Dawn-Kirkwall turn-back; no Dawn-Parkway was used --


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  No Dawn-Parkway was used for direct purchase customers?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  If we can turn forward now to page 6 of the compendium, which is J3.5, which was last Thursday also.  I appreciate we had spent some time trying to get complete clarity on what we're asking for in J3.5, and I'll get to in a minute that we're still seeking some information.  But specific to your answer in the last paragraph on page 2 of 2 of Exhibit J3.5, Union outlines how it's going to manage the surplus of 30,393 GJs in conjunction or in accordance with the 2015-0200 settlement agreement.

Now, we haven't had the benefit of seeing that because your 2017 deferral account evidence is not out yet, so to the extent that you are doing any kind of optimization, how do you differentiate between whose capacity you're selling?  The 30,000 that's associated with this excess capacity or the 106 -- or, sorry, the remaining, which would be approximately 76 TJs that is also surplus but it's not part of the 30,393?

MR. REDFORD:  What do you mean you by "optimization"?

MR. QUINN:  Selling in the market based upon customer need, doing exchanges, those type of things, Mr. Redford, that is part of what a utility does with temporary surplus assets.

MR. REDFORD:  Our first choice is to sell this long-term, is to sell capacity long-term.  To the extent that it's available, we would sell it on a short-term basis, whether that's one month or one year capacity or whether it's on the day.  And if it's on the day, you know, we might have -- well, we would have -- all of our firm capacity wouldn't be nominated, so you would have IT capacity available just through the firm loads today.  There's a number of different avenues which we might use to sell capacity.  We don't necessarily -- you know, I'm not sure we earmark or colour code each molecule as to where it goes on what capacity.

MR. QUINN:  Well, we had that discussion the day, and it was my terminology, so you don't colour-code your capacity, which I understand.  But in this case, since you are to be allocating the benefits of this surplus of 30,393 GJs per day, or 30 TJs, how are you doing that to separate from the other surplus capacity or other capacity that is underutilized because it's not a peak day?

MR. REDFORD:  I don't think we are allocating that amongst the 100 -- or the 76 and the 30.

MR. QUINN:  Well, then I'm troubled by your answer if you're saying that's -- you are going to agree to market the surplus capacity in accordance with the storage and transportation access rule and credit the revenues to the project deferral account.  What revenues are getting to the project deferral account and which are going to the bottom line?

MR. REDFORD:  So my understanding is that we would look to -- we would look to put dollars into the deferral account once we're down to less than 30,393 capacity.

MR. QUINN:  But you're never going to be there, because that's excess.

MR. REDFORD:  Well, what do you mean, we're never going to be there?  We're actively marketing capacity every day specifically on a long-term basis.

MR. QUINN:  So the 30,000 will be the last capacity sold, is the --


MR. REDFORD:  That's our understanding.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, that's helpful to know.  It's concerning to hear.

Okay.  So let's move on then.  Part of this interrogatory -- or, sorry, undertaking request -- and I do appreciate Union's time that we spent last Thursday trying to get clarity on our request when clearly we didn't yet, but part of what we were looking for -- and we don't have to go back through the record because it's in our submission requesting additional information in J3.5 -- but we were looking for the impact of depreciation over the course of the IRM period.  And Mr. Kitchen, unless I'm missing something, or Ms. Mikhaila, can you show me in attachment 2 anything that would help me calculate the amount of depreciation that would normally have accrued under a cost of service through the IRM period?

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Quinn, I think we've talked about this now a couple of times, but depreciation is one of the things that we said we couldn't provide because we would need to prepare a study of the Dawn-Parkway system in order to do that, and that would take us -- well, it would take us a number of days to do that.  And we aren't planning to do that.

So this was -- so our position on depreciation hasn't changed.  What this does give you is how costs are allocated between in-franchise and ex-franchise.

MR. QUINN:  I understand that, Mr. Kitchen, and I appreciate we're trying to find a shortcut.  So instead what I did is I provided in the compendium, if you turn to pages 8, 9, and 10, but specifically focusing -- well, I'll start on page 8.  This is from Union's rebasing proceeding, and it's a schedule for the provision of depreciation with the total provision for depreciation amortization depletion of 196 million on Schedule 1, page 1.  Do you see that?

MR. KITCHEN:  I do.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So then if we flip the page we have transmission.  Now, under transmission not only would you have Dawn -- would you agree with me that Dawn-Parkway would be the major asset in your transmission assets?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I did look at our 2013 cost study after seeing your compendium, and of the 39 million in transmission, 30 million of that relates to the Dawn-Parkway system.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I couldn't -- I didn't have the opportunity to break that out, but that's the number.

So absent doing your cost study, would six times 30 million represent in the time between 2013 and 2019, represent a round number of the value of depreciation over the six-year period?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I think that the 2013 amount is already reflected in the rate base.  I think it would be reasonable to multiply it by five years.

MR. QUINN:  But the 2013 was your test year, and presuming that you will be in a cost of service, 2019 would be your test year.

MS. MIKHAILA:  And assuming the same amount for 2019, then, yes, six years would be reasonable.

MR. QUINN:  That's what I'm trying to get at, thank you.  So under Mr. Shepherd's -- and maybe I'm getting into a contentious issue, but this is something that the company is avoiding by not rebasing a reduction of the Dawn to Parkway costs in the order of 180 million dollars, is what the company is avoiding?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Although the rate base on the Dawn to Parkway system may have been reduced, the depreciation over Union's IRM term has been used to reinvest in maintenance capital.

MR. QUINN:  If you rebased would you have to deduct the rate base that was in the original Dawn to Parkway assets at the start of rebasing, would you have to reduce that by the amount of depreciation over the six-year period?

MS. MIKHAILA:  The Dawn to Parkway system would be reduced and other areas would be increased as a result of the reinvestment of the depreciation.

MR. QUINN:  Focusing Dawn to Parkway, you've been able to add all of your new builds to that asset base, correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.  They're --


MR. QUINN:  So you've added the new assets, but you haven't depreciated the existing assets?

MS. MIKHAILA:  The assets are being depreciated as part of the price cap.  It's based off of 2013, which was the rate base from 2013.

MR. QUINN:  For the purpose of making rates there has been no adjustment for that around 180 million over the course of the IRM?

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Quinn, we're -- we acknowledged already to Mr. Shepherd that we're not rebasing, and so that's the true of any plant item, that was based on '13, and we haven't depreciated it for rate-making because we've been under a price cap.

MR. QUINN:  The difference here, Mr. Kitchen, specifically Dawn-Parkway, is you have had a significant build over the period and you put all those costs into rates while not making any adjustments for depreciation because you're under price cap.

MR. KITCHEN:  Right.  And rates increased by 40 percent inflation as well.

MR. QUINN:  On the Dawn-Parkway system?

MR. KITCHEN:  In terms of -- in terms of what we've added -- we've added demands and we've added capital, but underpinning that base -- that base amount was inflated by 40 percent inflation.

MR. QUINN:  But the ultimate Dawn-Parkway rate has increased in the --


MR. KITCHEN:  What we're talking about --


MR. QUINN:  -- order of --


[Reporter appeals.]

MR. KITCHEN:  Sorry.

MR. QUINN:  In the order of 50 percent over the IRM period?

MR. KITCHEN:  What we were talking about is the base amount here, right?  This is the base amount, and Mr. Reinisch already spoke about the fact that depreciation associated with the pass -- the capital pass-through items is not available for reinvestment.  That continues to go through the deferral account.

MR. QUINN:  And my point is for the purposes of making rates you've added the costs of the new capital with no adjustment for depreciation through the IRM period?

MR. KITCHEN:  We have not made cost-of-service adjustments to any rate.

MR. QUINN:  And if you needed to -- if you had to rebase, that would be the time to do it, correct?

MR. KITCHEN:  Cost-of-service rebasing is generally when you adjust all the rates, not just the Dawn-Parkway rates.

MR. QUINN:  I understand.  I think I'll move on.

So I started at the outset about talking about surplus Dawn0Parkway capacity, and we've spent a lot of time talking about the PDO and where things are at in the winter of '17/'18, but for the purposes of making rates for 2019, the obvious question is what is the capacity that's needed for the winter of '18-'19.  So, Mr. Redford, do you have a sense of how much turn-back you're to anticipate for prior to this winter?

MR. REDFORD:  For 2018 and 2019 winter?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. REDFORD:  We would have received that already.  I would have to look what the exact number is on Dawn-Parkway.  And it should be -- I noticed in your compendium you included our May index of customers.  It should be identified right in that May index of customers.

MR. QUINN:  So I have produced the May index of customers, which is on pages 11 and 12 of the compendium.  But I apologize, because of the formatting of the end date, it's not really that helpful.  It's not that readable.  Things didn't all come together the way I thought they would in sorting.  So I took the liberty, and I trust you can look at this subject to check, but I sent Ms. Chaisson an Excel spreadsheet of that same data but sorted on the basis -- better sorted on the basis of year.  So if that could be just shrunk just a little bit so we can see the year at the end date for these customers in column G.  Thank you.

So looking at that, would you take it, subject to check, Mr. Redford that there's around 200,000 TJs of capacity that would be -- is scheduled to be turned back for this November 1st, 2018?

MR. REDFORD:  Yeah, I think the number is closer to -- I think it's around 88 TJs a day.  If you look at the types of contracts that are in -- that are highlighted, some of those are Hub contracts.  Some indeed are M12 capacity.  But I think there's about 88 in capacity to be turned back.  There's 70,000 for Halton Hills, which is the TransCanada Power TCE, which I think is at line 28 on the spreadsheet, and we're still waiting to hear whether they're going to shift their delivery obligation back to Dawn or not through that capacity.  So I don't think we've got 200,000 in turn-back in total.  I think the number is closer to 88.

MR. QUINN:  Well, the number may be somewhere in the middle, Mr. Redford, but if you look at lines 28, 29 and 30, all of those are M12 contracts, correct?

MR. REDFORD:  28 -- 27, 28, 29 and 30 are, correct.

MR. QUINN:  Right.  So if I do simple math on that, I get fairly close to 160,000.

MR. REDFORD:  Well, again the lines 27, 29 and 30 are all M12 shippers that are not in franchise.  That turn-back is, I said, 88.  Maybe that's closer to 90.  The TransCanada Power, which is at line --


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Redford, just --


MR. REDFORD:  -- 28 is -- I'm not finished -- is an in franchise demand.  They use that contract to fulfill their Parkway delivery obligation.

MR. QUINN:  I'm distinguishing -- you distinguished Hub contracts, which are at the upper end of the highlighted area.  I'm just focusing on M12 contracts, and these M12 contracts have not been extended beyond November 1st, 2018, correct?


MR. REDFORD:  Correct.

MR. QUINN:  We can maybe debate about how much is actually going to be turned back, and there may be some minor changes, but do you have any significant contracts that are going to be added to this index of customers on November 1st, 2018?

MR. REDFORD:  I would have to look at what contracts we have starting at that time.

MR. QUINN:  You're familiar with TransCanada's system whereby they identify those contracts which are starting as soon as they're contracted for, the capacity?

MR. REDFORD:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  And Union Gas isn't required to do that under STAR?

MR. REDFORD:  Yeah, we don't typically do that.  It's usually when the contract takes effect.

MR. QUINN:  That is something not in the STAR but is required of TransCanada?

MR. REDFORD:  That's fair.  Also, we wouldn't show it until all the conditions present are waived in the -- precedent, pardon me, are waived in the contract either.  So for instance --


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Redford.

MR. REDFORD:  -- if there were downstream facilities required to build -- say somebody has a condition precedent in their contract with us that they have to have downstream facilities built, we wouldn't show that, because the condition precedent had not been waived.  So it's not an effective contract at that point.

MR. QUINN:  And TransCanada shows them after condition precedents have been waived, correct?

MR. REDFORD:  They would show -- well, I would have to check.  I mean, that's TransCanada's.  That's how they do their business.


MR. QUINN:  We'll leave that for another day.

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I wonder if Mr. Quinn could let the answers be finished before he starts his next question.  There seems to be a constant flow here of interruption, and I don't think it's going to create a very coherent record.

MR. QUINN:  I apologize, Madam Chair.  I'm about 39 minutes into my 40 minutes I asked for.  Because I have one last question, and the additional information is something that both Mr. Redford and I well know.

Having put this in context, when do we address who is at risk on the Dawn-Parkway system?  Is it in this proceeding or is it in your 2019 rate-making proceeding?

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, Mr. Quinn, it's certainly not this proceeding, and it may not even be the '19 proceeding.  It may not be dealt with until rebasing in 2029.

MR. QUINN:  That's our concern.  Thank you very much, Madam Chair, those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Mondrow.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Ms. Mikhaila, I just want to ask you maybe it's two questions in the end.  Mr. Quinn talked to you about depreciation of the Dawn-Parkway system between 2014 and 2018, and I think together you came up with a number of 180 million dollars, roughly, 30 million a year?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, the Dawn-to-Parkway component of the transmission amount that he was referencing is 30 million.  The total depreciation on the Dawn-Parkway system was 36 million in 2013, so the additional depreciation was related to general plant items.

MR. MONDROW:  And you said that that depreciation expense was reinvested in maintenance capital on the Dawn-Parkway system?

MS. MIKHAILA:  I think Mr. Reinisch talked this morning about the reinvestment of the depreciation expense into capital.  It wasn't invested in Dawn-Parkway, because those items were subject to pass-through, so I'm going to assume it was reinvested in maintenance capital.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And the capital adds on the Dawn-Parkway system have been subject to pass-through, and as I understand the pass-through mechanism, that occurs without any depreciation, is that right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sorry, can you clarify what you mean by "without any depreciation"?

MR. MONDROW:  So the build from -- if there is a build in 2015, there's a pass-through amount if that with goes into service and is in service for a full year.  The first full year is 2015.  There is a pass-through amount in 2015 rates.  And then does that pass-through amount in 2016 get reduced by the depreciation on the amount passed through?

MS. MIKHAILA:  The depreciation doesn't reduce, because the depreciation is calculated based on the original capital expenditure.  But the rate base is reduced by the depreciation each year.

MR. MONDROW:  But is the recovery on account of the pass-through reduced?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it is.  The return on the average investment of the capital pass-through is reduced, because the average investment is being reduced each year by depreciation.

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you very much.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. ANDERSON:  Moving on to, I guess, the panel 3 component of this panel, I believe it's Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I was taken aback.  I thought I was last on this panel.  I don't think I have any questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, panel.  Just looking at one of the undertakings specifically, I'm looking at Exhibit J5.1.  And in this undertaking, part A was to provide the 2028 calculations for J1.4, attachment 1, and as I recall, that was calculation showing the 2018 to 2019 change in rates for residential customers across the two companies in the three rate zones; is that right?

MR. KACICNIK:  Yes, that's correct.  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

And so the part A -- or I guess attachment 1 of exhibit adds relative to that undertaking the 2028 impacts across those same rate classes and across the three rate zones for residential customers, and I think it assumes a 2,200 metres cubed consumption, for example?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Attachment 2?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think it's attachment 1.  That's what attachment 1 adds, essentially, to J1.4, sorry.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Sorry, are you on J5.1?

MR. BUONAGURO:  No, I'm just saying J5.1, attachment 1 adds to J1.4, and what it adds is the 2028 numbers for those rate classes and franchise areas.  That's what it adds.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, it's the 2028 rates calculated for each general service rate class, but not a specific customer.  These are the projected rates for the rate class.

 MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I'm just looking at the bottom of the attachment, and it says based on a 2,200 metres cubed consumption, so I assumed that this attachment 1 as an extension of J1.4 was focused on residential and assumed 2,200 metres cubed consumption, and just gave the 2028 version of it.  I think that's --


MS. MIKHAILA:  It is the 2028 version of J1.4.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

And then part B, which Mr. Shepherd specifically talked about this morning, or attachment 2, I guess it's a called, under Exhibit J5.1, it talks about small commercial customers specifically, and it includes Union South, Union North, and Enbridge Rate 6 for two consumption levels, right?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So -- and I'm just looking at the pattern, and I wanted to see if I could get some understanding about whether this pattern persists throughout the rate classes or not and if you can tell me that that's true.  My instinct is to ask you for an undertaking to do it for the rest of the rate classes, but I understand that there's -- don't want to do that at this point, but if it turns out that what I'm asking for is very simple to do, and just a matter of generating an example, please let me know.

Looking at -- the comparison -- I'm looking at Union South rate M1, showing the 2019 total bill at 2,241.22 for the delivery charges at line 1.  Do you see that?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And it basically shows that from -- well, first of all, 2019, that -- basically, that's your -- that's your proposal if the merger is approved and that's essentially what that customer would be paying in 2019 under your rate proposal, correct, for delivery charges.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yeah, there's a number of assumptions that go into that, but --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Fair enough.

MS. MIKHAILA:  -- all those assumptions come --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MS. MIKHAILA:  -- true then that would be the --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So that would include -- sorry.  Did I interrupt, sorry?  My apologies.  So for example, that includes the cumulative effect of all existing riders, for example, anything having to do with pass-through capital, for example?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That does include the effect in 2019 of Union's capital pass-through.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  And then it shows, if you go over to 2028 bill impact for that same line, it shows you what 2028 looks like.  In this case it's $3,344.98.  And then -- do you see that?  Thank you.

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, I do.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And just comparing it to the, sorry, the equivalent escalation under EGD, the observations -- or the obvious observation is that from Union South relative to EG Rate 6 for the same customer, the Union customer starts at a lower delivery charge, escalates a little faster throughout the 2019 to 2028 period, but at the 2028 period ends up still being slightly less expensive from a delivery charge perspective than EGD?  Is that fair?

MS. MIKHAILA:  That is the result.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And then a similar pattern for the Union South rate M2 example, starting at line 13, comparing it directly to EGD Rate 6.  Similar, although it looks like in 2028 in this specific example the Rate M2 Union South customer becomes a little more expensive than the equivalent Rate 6 EGD customer in 2028, from a delivery charge point of view?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, just lightly higher.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And then what I wanted to ask you, because what we have -- we have that sort of analysis based on this exhibit and the previous exhibit, we have that for residential, and we have it for small commercial customers, including commercial customers in the Union South M2 versus EGD Rate 6.

Does that same sort of pattern hold true across all the rate classes?  And I'm thinking specifically of the contract rate classes.

MS. MIKHAILA:  We haven't done the analysis.  I can't verify if that same pattern would continue.  There's things within the general-service rate classes, including the fixed monthly charge, that are contributing to some of those and where each of these customers falls relative to the average of the rate class.  I don't know if I can --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, if I were to just -- I'm mostly concerned with the average.  I understand part of the complication may be that, for the example -- as I learned this morning, for the general-service rate classes there was little or no increases in the fixed charge over the two IRM periods, whereas, as I understood this morning, for the contract rate classes, unless -- I think I heard it correctly -- you maintain the same fixed/variable split throughout, or something similar?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, so Union's practice with the capital pass -- or, sorry, with the price cap in the previous two terms has been to escalate contract rate class monthly customer charges, but not general service.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So when you say "escalate", were you basically just escalating it based on the price escalation, so the fixed charge was going up at the same rate as the volumetric charge?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, anything that's passed through that impacts the demand charge, the monthly customer charge, or the volumetric charges would be passed through in that same manner.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So if I were to -- if we do the same example for, say, the M4 class Union South relative to EGD on the same basis of maintaining the same escalation over time, the escalation would be the same, presumably, for the low end of the range use -- range as it would be for the large use, since the fixed charge and the volumetric demand charge would be escalating at the same rate?

MS. MIKHAILA:  For the PCI escalation I would say yes.  There may be other things like the capital pass-through that might affect one or the other in a different manner, but for PCI it would be escalated at the same --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Can I just explore briefly what -- on the capital pass-through, what would it be that would cause a difference?  And I'm mindful of the notes -- the footnotes where it says the assumption for the -- going forward on the ICM module was that the costs were allocated based on the allocation of rate base, but that's not necessarily true depending on the actual investment, correct?

MS. MIKHAILA:  Yes, we had to make an assumption for ICM, so we did allocate it on rate base and Union's rate base, excluding its ex-franchise customers.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  So, for example, if there is a particularly large project where there is a very different allocation of costs across rate classes, that might skew the numbers, and that's --


MS. MIKHAILA:  It would change the result.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  All right.  So I could ask you to do, for example, the M4 class, but if you made the same simple assumption it could be way off?  Is that what I'm hearing?

MS. MIKHAILA:  These rate impacts that we've provided are based on assumptions, and we don't know the actual allocation of the projects for ICM in 2019 or out to 2028, so it's hard for me to say what the actual be until we file the rate application.  For purposes of providing some information for this undertaking we've assumed an allocation of ICM revenue requirement on rate base.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.
Questions by the Board:


MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  So I think that goes back to my question from panel 1, which probably be framed as which Y factors have any impact on the bill impacts that we're seeing in the undertakings or evidence?

MR. KACICNIK:  There is no impact, Madam Chair, from anything upstream from the distribution system, the cost of the natural gas and the upstream transportation and load balancing, there is no impacts from those.  Similarly, there is no impacts from cap and trade charges.  So what may have impact is a Y factor, such as DSM.  We assume DSM at the current level, and then I think Union kept it flat and EGD increased it by roughly 1 million dollar per year.

MS. ANDERSON:  And the numbers, I think as we were just discussing, they do include the assumptions on the ICMs?

MR. KACICNIK:  Correct.  What's reflected in this impact, it's escalation by the price cap index.  DSM is a pass-through, incremental capital module requirement is a pass-through, and adjustment for average use for the general service rate classes.

MS. MIKHAILA:  And for Union's rates we've also included the continuation of the capital pass-through impacts.

MS. ANDERSON:  From the previous framework?

MS. MIKHAILA:  From the previous framework.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Cass, do you have any re-examination?

MR. CASS:  No, thank you, Madam Chair.
Procedural Matters:


MS. ANDERSON:  Good.  Well, that concludes the cross-examination.  We have looked at our schedule, and based on that, we are scheduling the argument in-chief in writing due on June 1.  And submissions from all parties including staff on June the 15th.  And reply argument on June 29th.  Okay.  With that, the panel has no other matters so I think we can thank you the panel and close for the day.  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:21 p.m.
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